University of Alberta

The Current State of Scholarly Editions

by

Daniel Sondheim

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degrees of

Master of Arts in Humanities Computing and Master of Library and Information Studies

Humanities Computing and Library and Information Studies

©Daniel Sondheim Fall 2012 Edmonton, Alberta

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Libraries to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only. Where the thesis is converted to, or otherwise made available in digital form, the University of Alberta will advise potential users of the thesis of these terms.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis and, except as herein before provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatsoever without the author's prior written permission.

Abstract

This thesis examines and compares printed and digital scholarly editions from three separate but complementary perspectives. The overarching aim is to increase the understanding of the relative merits of printed and digital scholarly editions. The perspectives employed include a theoretical one, in which scholarly editions are situated within the context of media theory; a comparative one, in which particular printed and digital editions are compared with each other; and another comparative one, in which particular digital editions are compared with each other.

The conclusion is that although digital scholarly editions offer new and exciting opportunities for research, printed ones also have advantages and are still useful for scholars.

Acknowledgements

All of the research in this proposal has been supported by the Implementing New Knowledge Environments (INKE) project. The aim of the INKE project is "to understand the nature of the human record as it intersects with the computer," and consists of a network of scholars from across Canada, the United States, and the United Kingdom ("INKE: Implementing New Knowledge Environments"). As a research assistant for the Interface Design (ID) team of the INKE project from 2009-2012, I have performed research comparing printed and digital citations, corpora, and scholarly editions.

I would also like to thank my supervisors Geoffrey Rockwell and Margaret Mackey, and committee members Sean Gouglas and Dinesh Rathi for their invaluable assistance in preparing this thesis.

Table of Contents

Introduction 1
Research Problem1
The Importance of Scholarly Editions2
Definition
Historical Context
Chapter 1: Theoretical Perspectives7
Marshall McLuhan's Understanding Media: The Extensions of Man
Lev Manovich's The Language of New Media16
Jay David Bolter and Richard Grusin's Remediation: Understanding New Media 22
Conclusion
Chapter 2: Print vs. Web 27
Research Questions
Sample
Analytical Apparatus
Method
Results
Codex Sinaiticus
Cædmon's Hymn
Conclusion
Chapter 3: Digital Scholarly Editions58
Introduction
Research Justification

Research Problem	
Identification of Functionalities	
Code Book	
Sample	
Method	
Results	
Navigation: Browsing	
Navigation: Searching	
Annotation: Private	
Annotation: Public	
Analytical Tools: Visualization	
Analytical Tools: Textual Analysis	
Customizability: of the Interface	
Customizability: of the Content	
Aggregated Results	
Theoretical Interpretation	
Conclusion	
Conclusion	
Works Cited	

Figures

Figure 1: Framework of interface design features
Figure 2: The <i>Codex Sinaiticus</i> facsimile edition
Figure 3: The reference guide for the <i>Codex Sinaiticus</i> facsimile edition 35
Figure 4: Concordance in reference guide to <i>Codex Sinaiticus</i>
Figure 5: Navigation bar in <i>Codex Sinaiticus</i> website
Figure 6: Paging device in <i>Codex Sinaiticus</i> facsimile edition
Figure 7: Layout of <i>Codex Sinaiticus</i> facsimile version
Figure 8: Layout of <i>Codex Sinaiticus</i> website
Figure 9: Printed edition of <i>Cædmon's Hymn</i>
Figure 10: Digital edition of <i>Cædmon's Hymn</i>
Figure 11: Hierarchical organization in screen-based version of <i>Cædmon's</i>
<i>Hymn</i>
Figure 12: Every word and footnote is a hyperlink in this passage from the
screen-based version of <i>Cædmon's Hymn</i>
Figure 13: Section sign used in printed and screen-based versions of
Cædmon's Hymn
Figure 14: An entire record on one page in the printed version of <i>Cædmon's</i>
<i>Hymn</i>
Figure 15: Text of different colours in the screen-based version of <i>Cædmon's</i>
<i>Hymn</i>
Figure 16: Browsing in <i>Codex Sinaiticus</i>

Figure 17: Concordance in Vincent van Gogh: The Letters	67
Figure 18: Browsing in William Godwin's Diary	68
Figure 19: Browsing by bars in Perseus Digital Library	68
Figure 20: Browsing by data map in Perseus Digital Library	69
Figure 21: Search in the Walt Whitman Archive	70
Figure 22: Search in the Rossetti Archive	71
Figure 23: Search in Vincent van Gogh: The Letters	72
Figure 24: Search in Perseus Digital Library	73
Figure 25: Refining search results in Perseus Digital Library.	74
Figure 26: Public annotations in <i>The Diary of Samuel</i>	76
Figure 27: Highlighting in William Godwin's Diary	77
Figure 28: Graph in William Godwin's Diary	78
Figure 29: A map of places mentioned in the <i>Diary of Samuel Pepys</i>	79
Figure 30: Overall statistics in William Godwin's Diary	80
Figure 31: Section statistics in Internet Shakespeare Editions	81
Figure 32: Vocabulary tool in Perseus Digital Library	82
Figure 33: Text analysis tools in the Walt Whitman Archive	83
Figure 34: Facsimile and transcription linking in <i>Codex Sinaiticus</i>	85
Figure 35: Interface customization in Vincent van Gogh: The Letters	85
Figure 36: Popup window comparisons in the William Blake Archive	86
Figure 37: Normalized and diplomatic versions in The Newton Project	88
Figure 38: Summary of results for Chapter 3 Error! Bookmark not defi	ned.

Figure 39: Web-based version of *The Autobiography of Mark Twain, Volume 1*

Figure 42: Secure PDF version of Autobiography of Mark Twain, Volume 1.100

Introduction

Research Problem

The goal of my thesis will be to explore the emerging phenomenon of digital scholarly editions from a variety of perspectives that have not seen significant representation in the relevant literature to date. These perspectives will combine to provide a more comprehensive understanding of digital scholarly editions than has so far been made available by other writers on the subject. The research questions tying the work together as a whole will be the following:

- What are the advantages and disadvantages of digital scholarly editions as compared to printed ones?
- On the whole, are digital scholarly editions really superior to printed ones?

The thesis will be divided into three main chapters, as well as an introduction and a conclusion. Each of the three chapters will have its own methodology and sample, but will contribute to answering the main research questions in different ways. In the first main chapter, a theoretical examination of digital scholarly editions will be undertaken. In the second, a comparison of digital and printed scholarly editions will be made. In the third, digital scholarly editions will be compared with each other and analyzed on their own merits. Reflections on the results of these chapters will then be given, and conclusions will be developed that take into account the findings of each. Findings of this thesis are likely to be of use to those involved in creating either digital or printed scholarly editions, as well as to other interested parties, such as members of the humanities computing and library and information studies communities.

The Importance of Scholarly Editions

The importance of scholarly editions for scholars in the humanities cannot be underestimated. Without them, scholars would find themselves in the unenviable position of beginning every study of any work from scratch, without the benefit of previous scholarship. They would have to seek out in libraries and archives the various versions of a given work, as well as their associated strands of commentary and analysis. Linking the materials together into a workable system amenable to study would essentially entail that every scholar first do some of the work of an editor of a scholarly edition in order to study the material in question. Such an approach would prevent newer scholarship from benefitting from older scholarship, which may be considerable. It would also require that scholars in some respects reinvent the wheel, either creating new work unrelated to any that has already been done, or creating a kind of ad-hoc scholarly edition composed of whatever material could be located before beginning to work. The result would be a reduction in the quality and complexity of the resulting study, and a massive waste of time and labour. It is for reasons such as these that Jerome McGann

has gone so far as to remark that "scholarly editions comprise the most fundamental tools in literary studies" (McGann 55).

Definition

Despite the manifest importance of scholarly editions to the humanities, there exist almost as many definitions of scholarly editions as there are scholars on the subject. The term typically cannot be found in dictionaries, including the OED, and even the authoritative "Guidelines for Editors of Scholarly Editions," produced by the Modern Language Association, lacks a concise definition, stating simply that "The scholarly edition's basic task is to present a reliable text: scholarly editions make clear what they promise and keep their promises" (Modern Language Association). Some of the ways that the term "scholarly edition" has been defined by scholars include the following: "the establishment of a text on explicitly stated principles and by someone with specialized knowledge about textual scholarship and the writer or writers involved" (Price); "a reliable text of a historical work [that allows] readers to see or feel or sense the historical materialities and contexts of the work" (Shillingsburg 22); and "an edition that is reliable and useful for scholarly purposes" (Hjørland). For the purposes of this thesis, I will use Hjørland's definition because it allows the inclusion of different kinds of editions, including critical editions, facsimile editions, and others. As all of these types of editions are useful to scholars, and all are undergoing major transformations in their move to the Web, an

inclusive definition allows for a more comprehensive view of how scholarly editions are changing.

A "digital" scholarly edition is one that has been created specifically for electronic publication, whether on CD-ROM, the Web, or by other means. Therefore, a PDF of a printed scholarly edition does not count as a digital scholarly edition by this definition, since it has not been created primarily for digital publication.

Historical Context

Before delving into theory, it will be useful to provide some historical context to our discussion. For many years, writers have been predicting the imminent obsolescence of books. As early as 1945, Vannevar Bush, known "among librarians as the 'godfather' of the interdisciplinary field of 'information sciences'" (Zachary 75), dreamed of a day when microfilm would replace books, and "a library of a million volumes could be compressed into one end of a desk" (Bush 2). Codes would be used to automatically retrieve indexes, books, or records "with far greater facility than if [they] were taken from a shelf" (Bush 6). Twenty years later, pioneering computer scientist J. C. R. Licklider argued that the medium of the book was one of humanity's biggest obstacles to human progress. As he writes in his Libraries of the Future, "the difficulty of separating the information in books from the pages, and the absence, in books, of active processors, are the roots of the most serious shortcomings of our present system for interacting with the body of recorded knowledge" (Licklider 6).

Some have objected that this kind of focus on functionality in prognostications regarding the future of the codex fails to take into account the affection that many people possess for the materiality of books. Representative of this view is Robert Darnton, who argues in his *Case for Books: Past, Present, and Future* that the size, smell, and feel of printed books cannot be replicated in the digital environment, and that "no computer screen gives satisfaction like the printed page" (40).

However, arguments for the survival of books that are based solely on aesthetic qualities seem less applicable in the case of scholarly editions, which are ostensibly created primarily as analytical aids for scholars, rather than as objects of sensual gratification. Indeed, Hans Walter Gabler goes so far as to claim that "the digital medium will be the native medium of the scholarly edition of the future" and that printed scholarly editions will cease to be produced (Gabler).

Peter Robinson goes one step further than Gabler, arguing not only that digital scholarly editions will make printed ones obsolete in the future, but that they should already have done so, asking rhetorically "Who would publish a scholarly edition in print, now that the digital medium exists?," and answering despairingly that "the answer is almost everyone. With a few exceptions, almost every scholarly edition published in the last decade has been published in print, and in print only" (146).

5

Statements like these are striking, but contentious. In the following chapters, they will be investigated and evaluated by means of a variety of methods. Now we turn to a discussion of theory.

Chapter 1: Theoretical Perspectives

In "The Rationale of Hypertext," Jerome McGann argues that computerization is fundamentally altering the nature of scholarly editions: "The change from paper-based text to electronic text is one of those elementary shifts - like the change from manuscript to print - that is so revolutionary we can only glimpse at this point what it entails" (28). Furthermore, he characterizes this shift as being overwhelmingly positive in that it makes scholarly editions much more powerful in a number of ways: "The computerized edition can store vastly greater quantities of documentary materials, and it can be built to organize, access, and analyze those materials not only more quickly and easily, but at depths no paperbased edition could hope to achieve" (McGann 28). The problem with printed scholarly editions, according to McGann, is that the format of the instrument used to study is identical to that of the object being studied. In order to gain a proper perspective on material produced in book-form, we must use a non-book:

When we use books to study books, or hard copy texts to analyze other hard copy texts, the scale of the tools seriously limits the possible results. In studying the physical world, for example, it makes a great difference if the level of the analysis is experiential (direct) or mathematical (abstract). In a similar way, electronic tools in literary studies don't simply provide a new point of view on the materials, they lift one's general level of attention to a higher order." (McGann) Rather than books, McGann argues that computers are more appropriate hosts for scholarly editions: "computerization for the first time releases the logical categories of traditional critical editing to function at more optimal levels" (McGann, "The Rationale of Hyper Text" 15). Gabler echoes this sentiment years later, writing that "the otherness of the digital, as opposed to the material, medium will enable digital scholarly editions to reach out beyond the confines of the customary scholarly editions in book form" (Gabler).

Other writers generally concur with McGann's assessment. As far back as 1986 Peter L. Shillingsburg exclaimed in *Scholarly Editing in the* Computer Age that "the benefits to me in my own work... were such that I have no hesitation in stating that only madness would make me proceed without the computer" (Shillingsburg, Scholarly Editing in the Computer Age 134). Shillingsburg was at that time referring to production processes such as collation and typesetting, and omitted any mention of scholarly editions produced solely for the screen. This provides a stark contrast to a work he published two decades later in 2006 called *From Gutenberg to Google*: Electronic Representations of Literary Texts, in which he states bluntly that "electronic scholarly editions either already can, or promise soon to be able to, offer to both editors and edition users considerably more than was possible in print editions" (Shillingsburg, From Gutenberg to Google 97). Similarly, Eugene William Lyman makes the claim that "The electronic medium... holds the hope of the scholarly edition's fullest realization"

(Lyman iii); John Lavagnino claims that an electronic edition "can say more than the printed book does" (Lavagnino); and Susan Hockey points out that the electronic medium can add value to an edition (Hockey).

Such unanimous approval for digital scholarly editions seems quite striking, especially in light of the decidedly more nuanced approach of the scholarly community with regard to new media in general. Although some exceptions do exist, such as Ted Nelson's statement that "computer screens can make people happier, smarter, and better able to cope with the copious problems of tomorrow" (DM74), theoretical discussions of new media tend almost universally to avoid statements to the effect that new media are simply "better" than older media.

What are we to make of the discrepancy between attitudes towards new media in general, and towards digital scholarly editions in particular? Part of the reason for the divide may be simply that many of the people writing about the rather specialized subject of digital scholarly editions are either directly involved in creating them, members of the humanities computing/digital humanities community, or both. Each of these groups tends to hold highly positive views of technology, not to mention having vested interests in seeing their projects and those of others in their community succeed. However, another factor may be that scholarly editions have not been subjected to the kind of extended theoretical analysis with other forms of new media have been examined. Perhaps if they were, more subtle evaluations could be accomplished, ones that do not only serve only to

9

expose their superiority over their predecessors, but instead attempt to evaluate them in more sophisticated ways.

With this possibility in mind, the objective of this chapter will be to perform an examination of digital scholarly editions with reference to theories of new media laid out in three well-known and widely cited theoretical discussions: Marshall McLuhan's *Understanding Media: The Extensions of Man,* Lev Manovich's *The Language of New Media,* and Jay David Bolter and Richard Grusin's *Remediation: Understanding New Media.*

Marshall McLuhan's Understanding Media: The Extensions of Man

In any thoroughgoing study, a good place to start is at the beginning; in the case of new media forms, a plausible beginning is Marshall McLuhan, who according to Matthew G. Kirschenbaum "all but invented media studies with *Understanding Media*" (Kirschenbaum). Eugene William Lyman would disagree with using McLuhan to begin a study of digital scholarly editions. He writes in his dissertation *Assistive Potencies: Reconfiguring the scholarly edition in an electronic setting* that McLuhan's dictum that "the medium is the message" led to the "naïve [assumption] made early on in the porting of texts into a digital environment... that somehow the move into electronic format would work a great change on texts, endowing them with capacities that they lacked in print" (Lyman 30–31). He argues that such a view is misguided, since "Even granting that this may be true in some limited way, it does not follow that porting a text into an electronic environment will endow it with all of the properties that it could possess if concerted effort were expended to arrange for them" (Lyman 31). Lyman's criticism is based on a characterization of McLuhan's maxim "the medium is the message" as implying that different examples of a particular medium are functionally equivalent, and that therefore a uniformity of features should prevail with regard to every digital representation of a text, be it plain text, PDF, or a sophisticated digital scholarly edition such as a document in the *Perseus Digital Library*.

In one way, this seems like a fair criticism; McLuhan seems quite rigid in his characterization of media as being high or low definition for example, claiming that "a photograph is, visually, high definition" (McLuhan 22) and making no allowance for the possibility that it might display unrecognizable objects, be blurry, be too dark or too bright, or have been tampered with in some way. In any of these cases, the photograph will retain its identity as a photograph, but will not possess the characteristic of high definition that McLuhan attributes to photographs.

On the other hand, one might choose to interpret McLuhan more charitably, and construe his remarks about photographs as pertaining to photographs *as a class*, rather than to every instance of that class. Therefore, although photographs are in general high definition, defective or otherwise aberrant examples of photographs may not be. Similarly, despite the fact that there exists a great deal of variation in the particular affordances offered by various digital formats, remarks to the effect that the digital medium will "work a great change on texts, endowing them with capacities they lacked in print" seem demonstrably true, whether we are talking about plain text, PDF, or sophisticated digital scholarly editions. For example, the simple fact that digital documents can be displayed at will on a screen, and then equally easily removed from view, makes them markedly different from their paper counterparts, which remain in place once written. The nature and degree of the changes inherent in diverse digital formats, and even across individual instances of each format (such as between a simple digital edition versus a more complex one), will of course differ; however, the fact remains that the digital environment, as a class, does possess certain common characteristics that diverge quite radically from those of the printed environment. Acceptance of this fact allows McLuhan's maxim to retain its applicability, but still leaves room for Lyman's observation that unique and innovative properties require concerted effort to be produced, and are not simply automatic gifts of the digital medium.

Once it is admitted that McLuhan's maxim "the medium is the message" retains its significance in the context of digital scholarly editions, then the next step is to determine its particular implications. McLuhan explains his maxim as the idea that "the personal and social consequences of any medium – that is, of any extension of ourselves – result from the new scale that is introduced into our affairs by each extension of ourselves, or by any new technology" (7). It is difficult to speak of the "personal and social consequences" of digital scholarly editions, since they exist almost totally within the relatively impersonal and narrow domain of scholarly work, and

outside of the experience of the general public. In fact, this observation points to a major characteristic of McLuhan's theories: in his attempt to find all-encompassing and universal principles and laws, he takes as his subject matter mainly *popular* media, largely ignoring specialized forms such as scholarly editions. However, if his theories really can be said to apply universally, then they should apply to scholarly editions as well.

Since "the content of any medium is always another medium" (McLuhan 8), in order to explore the McLuhanian message of digital scholarly editions, we must begin by explaining their composition. The most obvious content of a digital scholarly edition is the work that it showcases; in most cases, this is a printed book, a manuscript, or some other physical instantiation of a work. This work is often represented as a facsimile (i.e., as a McLuhanian photograph) as well as being transcribed (i.e. as the printed word). There are also usually mechanisms for searching, browsing, and performing analytical operations on the text, and there may even be multimedia elements such as video (i.e. television) or audio (i.e. the phonograph). The result is a heavily hybridized medium, one that combines a variety of media to construct a new kind of representation with a fundamentally different kind of message than anything that has come before. McLuhan describes this situation as follows: "The hybrid or the meeting of two media is a moment of truth and revelation from which new form is born.... The moment of the meeting of media is a moment of freedom and

release from the ordinary trance and numbness imposed by them on our senses" (55).

This kind of release from trance and numbness may seem rather dramatic in the context of digital scholarly editions, although it can be believably interpreted as an amplified echo of sentiments espoused by the likes of McGann, Lavagnino, Hockey, Shillingsburg, and Lyman to the effect that digital scholarly editions are more powerful than printed ones, and enable editors to say and do more.

One of the features of some digital scholarly editions that are touted as making digital editions much more powerful is the ability for users to actively collaborate with the editors and with each other by sharing knowledge and adding annotations. The Online Chopin Variorum Edition, for example, provides users with the ability to make private or public annotations to bars of music. Because of this feature, it is advertised as "an altogether new type of 'dynamic edition" (Rink et al., "Online Chopin Variorum Edition: Project Description"), and that it can "be seen as a dynamic 'network' rather than a fixed document" (Rink et al., "Online Chopin Variorum Edition: Report"). Peter Shillingsburg believes that public annotation will be central to future digital scholarly editions, which will be "constructed modularly and contributed to by 'a village' of scholars" (Shillingsburg 97). This co-operative view of the future would be very familiar to McLuhan, who writes that unlike the alphabet, which "detribalized" people, turning them from a cohesive unit into an

"agglomeration of individuals," the electric future reverses this trend, and is instead about *re*tribalization: "Electric writing and speed pour upon him, instantaneously and continuously, the concerns of all other men. He becomes tribal once more. The human family becomes one tribe again" (172). Shillingsburg's notion of a "village of scholars" finds a direct parallel in McLuhan's notion of a "global village," the inevitable product of retribalization: "With instant electric technology, the globe itself can never again be more than a village" (McLuhan 343). Although it is true that Shillingsburg's village is substantially smaller than McLuhan's, the metaphor works well in both cases, and carries similar implications for the future of human relationships.

The result of the various changes wrought by the move from printed to digital scholarly editions is that the genre of the scholarly edition has been irreversibly altered. Just as "radio changed the form of the news story" (McLuhan 53), the digital environment has changed the form of the scholarly edition. One change of form can be seen in the inclusion of multimedia in digital scholarly editions; whereas in printed books editors had "to reduce all forms of expression as much as possible to the single descriptive and narrative plane of the printed word" (McLuhan 54), in digital editions editors are much freer, and stand able to "play back the materials of the natural world" (McLuhan 59) without relying so much on textual description and interpretation. A more direct form of apprehension of the original work then becomes available, one that is less subject to the biases of editors. Another way that the form of the scholarly edition changes from print to the web is by the inclusion of hypertext. Hypertext allows users to jump around to points of interest within and between works, allowing less linear methods of reading. McLuhan anticipates this change, writing that "Today in the electric age we feel as free to invent nonlineal logics as we do to make non-Euclidean geometries" (85). The effect of such nonlineal logics is to counter the prevalent mechanical modes of thinking in terms of cause and effect and sequence and succession, and replace them with more holistic apprehensions of objects and ideas (McLuhan 86).

With these observations on the effects that a turn to digital scholarly editions may have on the message and the external form of scholarly editions in hand, we can now turn to their internal structure; a look at Lev Manovich may help us in this.

Lev Manovich's The Language of New Media

Like McLuhan's Understanding Media, Lev Manovich's The Language of New Media combines historical and theoretical approaches to the study of new media. Manovich himself acknowledges a debt to McLuhan, writing that "New media calls for a new stage in media theory whose beginnings can be traced back to the revolutionary works of Robert Innis and Marshall McLuhan of the 1950s" (48). However, Manovich's approach differs from McLuhan's in that rather than comparing new media to older media and evaluating them as if they were different types of a single category, new media are examined on their own terms: "From media studies, we move to something that can be called 'software studies' – from media theory to software theory" (Manovich 48). The fundamental difference between "old media" and "new media" is that at base new media are data, and not really media at all; "That the data represents pixels and that this device happened to be an output screen is besides the point.... New media may look like media, but this is only the surface" (Manovich 48).

In the context of digital scholarly editions, the shift from media studies to software studies means that a whole new approach is required in order to perform a proper analysis. Rather than applying the same categories and concepts from the print world, digital scholarly editions should be seen as something new and fundamentally different. It is this kind of insight that prompts Shillingsburg to claim that the move from print to the web necessitates an entirely new paradigm in thinking about scholarly editions, and that in fact the term "knowledge site" is more appropriate when referring to scholarly editions of the future (Shillingsburg 81).

Manovich does not speak specifically about scholarly editions per se in *The Language of New Media*, although he does discuss "cultural interfaces," which he defines as "human-computer-culture interface[s] – the ways in which computers present and allow us to interact with cultural data" (70). Cultural interfaces include anything from websites to video games, and would also encompass scholarly editions. In fact, Manovich argues that cultural interfaces have grown so popular that computers can now be said to mediate not only certain cultural forms, but all culture (64). Furthermore, the computer interface is not transparent or neutral, but determines how users think about the media objects accessed through them (Manovich 65). Therefore, to alter an interface to a work is to alter the work itself (Manovich 67). Digital and printed scholarly editions of the works of Shakespeare, for example, should according to this view be said to constitute different works. This idea, if accepted, has important implications for the design of digital scholarly editions; no longer do they simply provide different levels of added value to a work, but actually act to rewrite it in various ways. As to the particular ways in which digital scholarly editions are different from printed ones, Manovich explains them in terms of an examination of "the language" of cultural interfaces, which is composed of elements of three familiar cultural forms: the printed word, the general-purpose human-computer interface (HCI), and cinema (71).

Since scholarly editions are primarily textual, the first of these forms is arguably the most important. Manovich contends that whereas the printed word relies on the interface of the page, in the online environment the page becomes "fluid and unstable" (75). Manovich here echoes Bolter's earlier contention that "electronic writing is fluid and dynamic to a greater degree than previous technologies" (Bolter 8). With respect to digital scholarly editions, this means that an electronic edition may never really be "complete," and can be subject to updates and revisions almost indefinitely. And in fact, a look at some actual examples of digital scholarly editions reveals this to be the case; editions like the Perseus Digital Library, the Walt Whitman Archive, and the Internet Shakespeare Editions have been in existence for many years, and have seen many updates over that time. In contrast to printed editions, which are produced as discrete publications, specific versions of these editions as they appeared at particular stages of their history can be difficult to find; users interested in an older version of a digital edition may have to be satisfied with searching out cached versions available in the Internet Archive's Wayback Machine, which in almost all cases lacks complete records of archived scholarly editions.

In its transition to the screen, one of the most important changes to the printed word involves the introduction of hypertext. According to Manovich, the ease with which a reader can be led by hyperlinks to places outside of a text has meant the decline of rhetoric and the triumph of metonymy (77). Hyperlinks also work against hierarchy, reducing "new media culture [to] an infinite flat surface where individual texts are placed in no particular order" (Manovich 77). This flattening is reinforced by randomaccess memory, which allows any part of the work to be accessed at once, thus allowing the user to bypass narrative and rhetoric (Manovich 77). Instead, "cultural interfaces... bombard the user with all the data at once" (Manovich 78). Such flattening is clearly present in digital scholarly editions, to the point that they are often labelled "archives" rather than "editions." Indeed, Manovich himself points out that "multimedia works that have 'cultural content' appear to particularly favor the database form" (220). In terms of navigation in a database-like digital edition, tables of contents are

replaced by search engines or lists of hypertext based on various criteria, both of which allow users to jump anywhere within a work quickly and easily. Hypertext may be used within a text as well to lead the user to associated media, or to other places within the edition. The result of all this hypertext is an edition that lends itself more to non-sequential browsing than to extended reading. Peter Robinson takes a further step and argues with Manovich that the archive model is characterized not only by a different style of reading, but by a different kind of content as well; namely, a lack of editorial interpretation and an "impersonal presentation" (Robinson).

As to HCI, the third of Manovich's familiar cultural forms, his observations also seem quite applicable to digital scholarly editions; much use is made in these editions of traditional HCI features enumerated by Manovich, such as "scrollable windows, windows containing text and other data types, hierarchical menus, dialogue boxes, and command-line input" (89). Despite the advantages of features of traditional HCI, there are three problems with their use in digital scholarly editions. First, Lyman argues that this use of standard WIMP (windows, icons, menu, pointer) features in digital scholarly editions is inefficient and creates unnecessary work for the user. Forcing users to resize and align windows, scroll, and perform other such operations is inefficient, and "the unfortunate result is [that tasks] that might have been done once... now must be undertaken each and every time a text is viewed" (Lyman 29). Second, as with cultural interfaces in general, digital scholarly editions "attempt to mediate between... two fundamentally different and ultimately incompatible approaches," allowing users to perform the detailed operations familiar to users of HCI, while at the same time trying to retain some semblance to cultural objects that are traditionally unchangeable and wholly determined by the author (Manovich 90). Essentially, HCI elements do not resemble a book, so if the goal is to accurately represent a book by means of a computer screen, some inherent difficulties will arise. A final problem is that HCI tries to maintain consistency between applications, whereas culture emphasizes originality (Manovich 91). Although ease of use requires standardized features, such features detract from the artistry and uniqueness of an edition.

Cinema is the last of Manovich's cultural forms that influence the language of cultural interfaces, and is arguably not very important with regard to scholarly editions; in fact, given the relative scarcity of video in scholarly editions, it is difficult to apply to them Manovich's claim that "rather than being merely one cultural language among others, cinema is now becoming the cultural interface, a toolbox for all cultural communication, overtaking the printed word" (86). This may be an instance in which the rarefied field of scholarly editions will always go against the grain of popular culture, as text-based scholarly editions do not appear to be in any danger of being overtaken by video-based ones, which appear thus far to be non-existent. However, although the form of the scholarly edition is not changing to this degree, a number of noteworthy insights can be had by studying the aesthetic instantiation of the scholarly edition on the Web. Bolter and Grusin's *Remediation: Understanding New Media* may be able to help us to make sense of digital scholarly editions from this aesthetic standpoint.

Jay David Bolter and Richard Grusin's *Remediation: Understanding* New Media

Like Manovich's Language of New Media, Bolter and Grusin's *Remediation: Understanding New Media* also builds off McLuhan, although it does so in a very different way. Rather than taking a structural view of media and attempting to decipher its "language," as Manovich does, Bolter and Grusin opt for a more aesthetically oriented approach, focussing on the way new media looks, and the kinds of impact it has on people. Thus they define their central concept of remediation in terms of "transparent immediacy" and "hypermediacy," which essentially refer to levels of noticeability of the interface. The insights they develop using this view are quite useful in the study of digital scholarly editions, since a key component to a successful edition is the provision of an interface that balances the need to openly and faithfully represent a work with the need to provide information and control to the user.

Remediation, as defined by Bolter and Grusin, is "the formal logic by which new media refashion prior media forms" (273). Bolter and Grusin believe this principle to be universally applicable, at least with respect to the current historical moment: "all mediation is remediation.... Our culture conceives of each medium or constellation of media as it responds to, redeploys, competes with, and reforms other media" (Bolter and Grusin 55). Since it is universally applicable, it obviously makes sense to evaluate digital scholarly editions in terms of remediation. However, that is not the end of the story. A brief consideration of the matter is enough to reveal that remediation is doubly applicable in the case of digital scholarly editions: not only do digital scholarly editions remediate printed ones, but they also remediate whatever work is being represented in those printed editions.

As to the motivation for remediation, Bolter and Grusin argue that "each new medium is justified because it fills a lack or repairs a fault in its predecessor, because it fulfills the unkept promise of an older medium" (60). This rhetoric of digital improvement on the printed medium is strongly evident in the writing of McGann, Lyman, Shillingsburg, and others, as we saw above. Faults that digital scholarly editions are seen as repairing include a lack of space, the inability to include multimedia, and inefficient means of navigation and analysis. Lyman also argues that the quality of reliability, touted as the most essential characteristic of scholarly editions by a number of writers on the subject (e.g. Lyman 8; Hjørland; Modern Language Association), is increased in digital scholarly editions. This increase in reliability can be attributed to the provision of advanced search capabilities that allow users to question texts in ways unanticipated by the editors, allowing for "unmediated inspection" and the ability to seek out and test biases that might be present within the text (Lyman 156).

23

Lyman's idea here with regard to digital scholarly editions is a perfect example of Bolter and Grusin's more general observation that the invention of any device involves the "claim that it [is] better in some way at achieving the real or the authentic" (Bolter and Grusin 65). However, the real or authentic does not remain static. According to Bolter and Grusin, the claim that a device provides a superior route to the real or authentic also involves "a redefinition of the real or authentic that favors the new device" (65). Such a redefinition has in fact been one of the central goals of theoretical literature in humanities computing, especially literature that deals with scholarly editions. The argument is that computers make possible a different kind of study of literature than has been traditionally available, and that this new form of scholarship allows scholars to test their assumptions or to gain access to information and insights that were previously out of reach. Susan Hockey gives an example of this kind of argument in her book *Electronic Texts in the Humanities*, in which she argues that "simple statistical tools can help to reinforce the interpretation of the material. These studies are particularly suitable for testing hypotheses or for verifying intuition. They can provide concrete evidence to support or refute hypotheses or interpretations which have in the past been based on human reading and the somewhat serendipitous noting of interesting features" (Hockey 66).

If the real or authentic is to be redefined by digital scholarly editions, then a question that must be asked is how this is to be accomplished. Which of the logics of remediation is best suited to the task? Transparent immediacy allows the user to clearly and accurately view objects under consideration without distraction, whereas hypermediacy allows comparisons between versions of texts to be made, tools for textual analysis to be offered, means of navigation to be provided, and other benefits. In the case of textual materials, the maximum amount of transparency could be achieved simply by providing a PDF of an original document. However, such an edition would not offer the tools, transcriptions, and editorial content that users of scholarly editions want and need. Therefore, all scholarly editions offer an interface that Bolter and Grusin would call "hypermediated." This is unsurprising given Bolter and Grusin's contention that "the strategy that dominates on the Web is hypermediacy, attaining the real by filling each window with widgets and filling the screen with windows" (210).

However, Bolter and Grusin also note that "CD-ROM or DVD encyclopedias... promise a new transparency through the animation, video, and audio that cannot appear in a printed version" (203). Since Bolter and Grusin wrote this, multimedia artefacts have gained a solid foothold on the Web, including in Web-based scholarly editions. The answer to the question of hypermedia versus transparent immediacy for scholarly editions, then, would seem to be that both are valuable. And in fact a look at digital scholarly editions themselves would seem to confirm this. Decameron Web and the Online Chopin Variorum Edition allow labels containing metadata or controls to be hidden, William Godwin's Diary, Perseus Digital Library, and Vincent van Gogh: The Letters allow unneeded toolbars and other interface

25

elements to be collapsed, and many editions allow facsimile images to be zoomed in on and viewed in isolation. The key seems to be customizability: give users maximal control through the use of hypermediated elements, but give them the means to hide these elements when necessary to allow for undistracted reading.

Conclusion

By analyzing digital scholarly editions in terms of sophisticated theories of new media, a more nuanced understanding has been reached than is typically the case in theory-free discussions of scholarly editions. The consensus of writers such as McGann and Shillingsburg that the electronic environment represents a superior platform for scholarly editions may have merit; however, one's understanding of digital scholarly editions cannot be said to be complete simply by virtue of having reached this conclusion. A more detailed comprehension involves an examination of digital scholarly editions as a particular instance within the broader context of current media theory. This kind of application of theory to concrete examples can serve to test and to deepen the theories being employed, and may also help in the design and implementation of future digital scholarly editions.

Chapter 2: Print vs. Web

In the previous chapter, we explored some of the tensions between theoretical writing on scholarly editions and new media theory more broadly considered. In this chapter, another tension involving theoretical writing on scholarly editions will be investigated. This time, however, the tension is not between theory and theory, but rather between theory and practice. The fact is that although there exists a general consensus that the screen is a superior medium for scholarly editions than print, a number of editors have published printed editions alongside or after digital ones, including even Jerome McGann, who has argued for the superiority of digital editions.

To address this apparent contradiction between theoretical discourse and actual practice, this chapter will analyze a selection of scholarly editions that have been implemented in both digital and printed environments by the same editor(s). By comparing editorial decisions, an identification of the structures and mechanisms that are either shared or unique in each will be made, and an evaluation of the affordances available in each case will be provided. Finally, I will apply some of the theories of new media from chapter 1 in an attempt to explain the continued survival of printed scholarly editions. Specific scholarly editions that I will focus on in this chapter are the British Library, National Library of Russia, St. Catherine's Monastery, and Leipzig University Library's edition of the *Codex Sinaiticus*, and Daniel Paul O'Donnell's edition of *Cædmon's Hymn*. Results of this chapter are likely to be useful both for developing new digital interfaces and for understanding the print and digital dynamics within scholarly edition publishing.

Research Questions

Robinson's rhetorical question "Who would publish a scholarly edition in print, now that the digital medium exists?" constitutes a good starting point for the current chapter. However, in order to understand the continued existence of printed scholarly editions, in addition to asking *who* would produce a printed scholarly, we must also ask the more important questions of *why* they would produce it, and *how* they would implement it differently than they would a digital edition. In answering these questions, I hope to achieve a better understanding of the reasons for the continued survival of printed editions, as well as the ways in which they differ from their digital counterparts.

Sample

Since we are investigating reasons for the existence of printed editions, our sample must obviously include them. Furthermore, given that our research question involves the survival of printed editions in the digital environment, such editions should have been produced since the advent of the digital era. Finally, we include only scholarly editions that have been published in *both* print and digital format, by the same people. This constraint has been introduced because it ensures that decisions regarding
the production and implementation of both printed and digital editions are a result of the medium involved rather than to idiosyncratic preferences of different editors.

Analytical Apparatus

In order to fruitfully compare printed editions with digital ones, three modes of comparison will be employed. Firstly, statements regarding the purposes of both printed and digital editions from the editors of the editions themselves will be compared. Such statements can often be found in the introductions to the editions, and also within papers written about them. This mode of comparison will provide direct evidence regarding the reasons that each edition was produced, and will help to answer our second research question.

Secondly, in order to compare *how* the printed and digital editions have been implemented, and to identify advantages and disadvantages in each, a framework for comparison must be employed. We propose to use one developed by Geoffrey Rockwell and the INKE Interface Design team, described in a paper entitled "The Face of Interface: Studying Interface to the Scholarly Corpus and Edition." In that paper, a number of interface features were identified that could be used to compare corpus and scholarly edition interfaces. The framework described was developed as a means of developing insights rather than as a conclusion in its own right, and other frameworks are certainly possible (Rockwell et al., 6). All of the features serve to aid users to "consult" a work, which typically involves searching, skimming, and close reading, in that order (Rockwell et al., 6). The features are as follows: (1) organization, (2) navigation aids, (3) record layout, (4) paging devices, and (5) textual features. Organization refers to the structure of an edition as a whole. Record layout refers to the design of a particular unit of information, and how it is displayed. Textual features include modifications to the text itself, such as colour, underlining, and size. Navigation aids include elements like tables of contents and indices, and serve to help users search or browse the work. Paging devices function to orientate users within a work, and to help make navigation aids function. The features seem to bear certain relationships to each other, and a hierarchical diagram can be produced to show these (see fig. 1). Specifically, paging devices seem to be a subcategory of navigation aids, and all features can be seen as subordinate to organization.



Figure 1: Framework of interface design features

30

The particular interface features that have been implemented in a given edition affect the content that can be delivered. Conversely, the kind of content that must be displayed will guide decisions as to appropriate interface features to implement. Therefore, content will serve as a final point of comparison between printed and digital editions.

Method

The method used in this study is called "document analysis." In "Document Analysis as a Qualitative Research Method," Glenn A. Bowen explains document analysis as "a systematic procedure for reviewing or evaluating documents—both printed and electronic (computer-based and Internet-transmitted) material. Like other analytical methods in qualitative research, document analysis requires that data be examined and interpreted in order to elicit meaning, gain understanding, and develop empirical knowledge" (Bowen 27). The analytical apparatus described above and illustrated in Figure 1 has been applied to each of the editions under consideration.

Results

Codex Sinaiticus

Introduction

The *Codex Sinaiticus* is the oldest complete manuscript of the Christian Bible that is presently available, dating from the fourth century. The Codex Sinaiticus Project was undertaken in 2002 by the four institutions that currently hold the constituent parts of the manuscript: the British Library, the Library of the University of Leipzig, the National Library of Russia in Saint Petersburg, and the Holy Monastery of the God-Trodden Mount Sinai (Saint Catherine's). One outcome of the project is a freely accessible website that includes high resolution facsimile images in two different kinds of light, transcription, translations, notes regarding physical characteristics of the manuscript, and historical introductions to the manuscript and to the project. Another outcome is a $\mathbf{\pounds}495$ printed facsimile edition of the complete Codex, which comes with a small reference guide containing a concordance and historical introductions to the manuscript and to the project. A further outcome is a printed book by David Parker called *Codex Sinaiticus: The Story* of the World's Oldest Bible, which contains a more detailed history of the Codex and of the Project.

The *Codex Sinaiticus* is an especially interesting example of a book being adapted to the electronic environment, in that the book being adapted may be regarded in some ways as prototypical; as Christian Vandendorpe writes in his book *From Papyrus to Hypertext*, "the book is the quintessential mythical object of Christianity" (119). It might therefore be conjectured that for certain people, some of the appeal of the printed version of this particular text derives from the important status of the codex in Christian iconography.

Purpose

Despite the fact that a project report on the Codex Sinaiticus Project states that "there will be a range of electronic and printed outcomes created from the digital images and associated scholarly work" (Henschke 49), it is written on the website of the *Codex Sinaiticus* that the principal goal of the Project is "to reunite the entire manuscript in digital form and make it accessible to a global audience for the first time" (Milne et al.). It should be noted that the "digital form" mentioned here refers to the digital images of the manuscript, and so includes both the printed manuscript and the website. Subsidiary aims of the project include historical research, conservation, digitization, transcription, and dissemination (Milne et al.).

With regard to the website in particular, the creators state that the "creation of a scholarly, machine-readable transcription, linked by word to the manuscript images, is providing textual scholars with possibilities for research and analysis never before available" (Milne et al.).

In the small reference guide that accompanies the printed facsimile, there is a statement to the effect that despite the fact that they had to be reduced in size by 5% from the originals, the images that compose the facsimile are meant to "represent faithfully the actual appearance of the pages" of the manuscript (p. 5). A conference paper describing the project adds that the printed facsimile is meant to "enable full access to a life-like copy of the original manuscript" (McKendrick and Garcés). Comparing these statements of purpose, it seems clear that although increased accessibility is a goal in the production of both the website and the facsimile, the website also emphasizes added functionality, whereas the facsimile highlights similarity to the original. With regard to accessibliity, it might be pointed out that a freely available website is much more accessible to a majority of people in a majority of situations than an expensive printed facsimile edition.

Interface Features

Organization

In terms of physical organization, the printed version is composed of a number of related documents; the facsimile edition proper (see fig. 2), the reference guide (see fig. 3), and a book by David Parker. The website, on the other hand, is a single entity, composed of interlinked documents.



Figure 2: The Codex Sinaiticus facsimile edition (British Library)



Figure 3: The reference guide for the Codex Sinaiticus facsimile edition (British Library)

This difference means that accessibility is decreased for most people (i.e., those who have access to the Internet) using the printed version, as multiple documents must be located and acquired. It also means that while the website offers convenience and easy reference, the printed version allows the user to focus on the Codex itself, without the presence of extraneous material.

As to functionality, the ability to spread multiple printed documents out on a table and to compare them could be seen as an advantage, as might the ability to read documents in isolation, without having them distract from each other; however, the Web version does allow some content to be

35

compared side-by-side as well, in separate panes, and it is also possible to hide panes.

Navigation Aids

The printed facsimile edition of the *Codex Sinaiticus* contains no navigation aids itself. The reference guide that accompanies it includes a concordance that correlates passages with pages (see fig. 4).

		Numbers 20:3-20:28 Numbers 20:3-20:28
		Numbers 23:22-24:18 Numbers 23:22-24:18
		Numbers 23:22-2-2-2-2-2-2-2-2-2-2-2-2-2-2-2-2-2-
		Joshua 12:2-13:10
		Joshua 1220 1244 Joshua 13:11-14:4
		Judges 2:20
	Q17-1.11 [SCM] Q17-f.1v [SCM] Q18-f.2r [SCM]	
	Q18-f.2v [SCM] Q18-f.2v [SCM]	
-		
		- 1-or 6-25-7:4
	018-f.51 [SCM]	
	OI8-F5V [SCM]	
	O18 f.6r [SCM]	
	018-f.6v [SCM]	
	018-f.7r [SCM]	
		1 Chronicles 18:1-18:11 1 Chronicles 18:1-18:11 (duplicate)
	Q34-f.8r [BL-f.1]	
	Q34-f.8v [BL-f.1v]	

Figure 4: Concordance in reference guide to *Codex Sinaiticus* (British Library)

The digital edition performs the same function by means of a navigation bar and dropdown menus (see fig. 5).



Figure 5: Navigation bar in *Codex Sinaiticus* website (Milne et al.)

Basic and advanced search functionality is also provided in the digital version; the advanced version allows searching within specific textual sections of the site.

Comparing the navigation aids in the printed and digital editions, it seems apparent that locating material is faster and easier in the digital version, particularly if searching for specific words is taken into account (something that is not possible in the printed edition). However, the navigation aids in the digital edition are always present and accessible on the same page as the rest of the content; in the facsimile version, it is possible either to keep the reference guide open beside the facsimile, or to close it and avoid distraction. Therefore, in this case the user sacrifices a degree of personal choice for the increased functionality of the digital edition.

The inability to remove navigation aids from one's field of view is a common feature of digital editions; this fact points to a fundamental difference in the way that printed editions and digital ones are used. As Christian Vandendorpe writes, "everyone today knows that you don't read hypermedia – you navigate or surf" (116). The omnipresence of navigation aids in digital editions may be due to a difference in their intended use, namely the fact that they are meant to be navigated rather than read.

Paging Devices

The facsimile version gives the page, a code for the name of the institution that houses it, and the page as it is numbered by that institution (see fig. 6).



Figure 6: Paging device in *Codex Sinaiticus* facsimile edition (British Library)

In the digital edition, the navigation bar doubles as a paging device, showing not only the page, but the verse, as well as the scribe who penned it (see fig. 5). In effect, the concordance provided in the reference guide to the printed edition has been implemented as a paging device and as a navigation aid, in one.

Other paging devices contained in the Web version include arrows that allow the user to move backwards or forwards through the codex, as well as to jump directly to the first or last page; tabs indicating the language of the interface; boxes indicating the kind of light being shown in the image, the unit of text being shown in the transcription, and the language of the translation; and a box in the corner of the image of the manuscript showing one's current position in relation to the page as a whole.

In the printed facsimile edition, the only information included on the pages in addition to the photograph of the manuscript page is the paging device; this represents a minimal intrusion into the experience of examining the original document. With regard to the Web version, the sophisticated paging devices greatly enhance functionality, but constantly invite the attention of the user, and might be considered distracting.

Record Layout

The layout of the facsimile is almost as simple as possible, showing on each page a photograph of a corresponding original manuscript page (about 5% smaller than its original size) (see fig. 7).



Figure 7: Layout of Codex Sinaiticus facsimile version (British Library)

A benefit of such simplicity is that the physical manifestation of the book provides an approximation of the look and dimensions of the original codex. A review of the facsimile offers some insight into the value of the printed version as compared to the digital one:

Firstly, the online images do not allow for a display of a full manuscript page at anything like its full size.... Notwithstanding [the] slight reduction in size, the print version gives a real sense of the size of the parchment pages. The second advantage also relates to size. The reproduction of the entire surviving leaves of the Codex in a physical form also provides an unrivalled sense of the overall dimensions of the original, and the reason why so few complete bibles were prepared as single books prior to the advent of printing. (Foster 543–544)

The digital version is far removed from the original, with many boxes and controls with which to perform various operations (see fig. 8).

HOME ABOUT CODEX SI		MANUSCRIPT	Advanced search → GO TO: (BOOK)	
choose a passage: Revelation Chapter 1 Revelation, 1:1 - 2:7 library: BL folio: 3	choose a page: Verse 1 V Quire: 90 Folio: 1 V V 25b scribe: D/A		options: age STranslation nscription Sphysical Description	
Image	Standard Light Raking Light i	Transcription	view by verse view by page i	
ΝΟΜΠΝΕΝΤ ΤΗΚΥΓΙΑΚΙΗ ΚΑΠΙΚΟΥΟΔΟ ΜΟΤΦΩΝΗΝ ΑΠΝΩΣΟΛΙΓΙΑ ΑΓΙΝΩΣΟΛΙΓΙΑ	ΟΝΜΗ ΝΗΚΛΗΟΥΙΟΛ ΚΠΙΗ ΤΤΕΙΗ ΤΟΥΚΝΟΤΕΕΙΧΟ ΙΜΕΡΑ ΑΤΟΝΕΙΤΕΛΕΙΧΟΑΙΗ ΙΜΕΡΑ ΑΤΟΝΕΙΤΕΛΕΙΧΟ ΙΜΕΡΑ ΑΤΟΝΕΙΤΕΛΕΙΧΟ ΙΜΕΡΑ ΑΤΟΝΕΙΤΕΛΕΙΧΟ ΙΜΕΡΑ ΑΤΟΝΕΙΤΕΛΕΙΧΟ ΙΠΙΑ ΤΟΧΑΟΤΟΙΟΟ ΤΟΧΟΟ ΤΟΛΟΟ ΤΟΛΟ ΤΟ	1:1 αποκαλυψε ω γι χ δουσκ αυτω 0 80 δείμαι τοιοι ο 80 δείμαι τοιοι 0 80 δείμαι τοιοι ο 80 δείμαι τοιοι νεοθαι εν τοχει τοιοπιλικο διαι τοι τοιοπιλικο διαι τοι τοιοπιλικο διαι τοι ανισι εν τοχει τοιοπιλικο διαι τοι τοιοπιλικο διαι τοι τοι δουλιλα ουτου Ιαι τοι 2 νει ος ειμαρτορι βαι και την μαρτι τοι οσι ειμαρτορι γιωσκων και οι σι τοι οσι ειμαρτορι 3 μοκοιρισει ο συταγι νωσκων και τοι σι τοι οποι νον της ποσιοπη τοι στι τοι	ψ και οψονται αυτι τταρ οφθολμος ι αγι ογ τταρ οφθολμος ι αγι αγι οττινες Τ εξεκνι τ' αυτον πασαι ς Τ' αυτον πασαι ς Τ' αυτον πασαι ς Ν 8 και το τινο το	
KAIEICAAOAI	KIANISENCE TOYKAITOYALO	Translation	Русский Еλληνικά Deutsch English i	
Ημωσε ΠΗΝΤΗΝΟΟ Ν ΗΤΙΟΕλλλειι ΔΟΝΕΙΠΑΤΙΕ ΔΟΝΕΙΠΑΤΙΕ Ν ΧΡΥΟΔΕΚΑΙΜΑ ΠΙ ΤΟΝΕΙΠΑΔΥ ΔΟΜΟΙΟΝΥΝΙ ** ΕΝΔΕΔΥΜΕΝ	ME PAP ACT METARINT TATOM TANIA HON TO NETTAN CON PONOY TATOM NOY THEASE NOY TACEPT ON TACEPT	 1:1 The revelation of set show to his servants thir having sent by his angel John, 2 who became a witness testimony of Jesus Chris 3 Blessed is he that read prophecy, and that keep 	 The revelation of Jesus Christ, which God gave to him, to show to his servants things that must shortly take place, and having sent by his angel he made it known to his servant John, who became a witness to the word of God and the testimony of Jesus Christ, whatever things he saw. Blessed is he that reads and they that hear the words of the prophecy, and that keep the things that are written in it; for 	
	TIME TRONED		rches that are in Asia: grace to you	

41

Figure 8: Layout of *Codex Sinaiticus* website (Milne et al.)

Various panes make it possible to zoom in on and pan across the original manuscript, to view it in two kinds of light, to see a transcription by verse or by page, to see a translation in one of four languages, and to see a physical description of the manuscript page. These different types of content can be hidden or revealed by the user, but the end result is that the interface ends up looking more like a complicated machine than an ancient manuscript.

An additional factor with regard to record layout pertains to the transcription. Whereas the printed version is restricted to the continuous columns of unbroken prose of the original, the Web version gives users the opportunity to use the modern conventions of verses and chapters to structure the layout of transcriptions, or to view them as they are laid out on the pages of the manuscript. This undoubtedly constitutes a great advantage for scholars who are used to such conventions, although it might also be argued that it imposes a modern point of view on the original document.

Textual Features

The printed facsimile edition is devoid of notes and annotations, other than the ones that appear in the manuscript itself. The Web edition has transcriptions that are mapped to the manuscript, so that clicking on a word in the transcription highlights the word in the manuscript. It also implements some of the words in the transcription as links that produce hover text with information about changes made to the original text and the scribes who made them.

Again, the advantage of the printed version's approach is to let the user concentrate on the original document without distraction. The textual features of the Web version provide additional information, and give the reader the opportunity to easily compare a transcription of the text with the original manuscript.

Content

The printed facsimile contains only the photographs of the pages of the manuscript, along with the paging devices previously mentioned. The reference guide contains some history of the manuscript and the project, and the volume by David Parker contains a more detailed history. In addition to the historical material in the reference guide, the Web version contains a transcription of the entire manuscript, translations in four languages of portions of it, much higher resolution images than could be produced in the printed version, images of every page in two different kinds of light, and detailed physical descriptions of the pages.

With the exception of the material in David Parker's book, the digital edition obviously contains much more content than the printed one. A sizeable amount of this content might be considered unnecessary by some users; indeed, Peter Shillingsburg writes that a fundamental danger of digital scholarly editions is information overload: "The comprehensiveness of the electronic archive threatens to create a salt, estranging sea of information" (Shillingsburg, *From Gutenberg to Google* 165). In a nod to this sort of concern, the digital edition allows panes of content to be hidden.

Conclusion

The difference between the printed and digital versions of the *Codex Sinaiticus* might best be understood in terms of Jay David Bolter and Richard Grusin's theory of remediation. As we saw in the preceding chapter, remediation is "the formal logic by which new media refashion prior media forms," and its two "logics" are transparent immediacy and hypermediacy (273). Transparent immediacy attempts to "make the viewer forget the presence of the medium," whereas hypermediacy "works to remind the viewer of the medium" (Bolter and Grusin 272). It seems clear that the

43

printed facsimile edition attempts to achieve transparent immediacy, allowing the user to ignore the distraction of the medium itself and to slip into the illusion that they are touching and reading the original manuscript. The digital version is a classic example of hypermedia, calling attention to itself by providing an array of tools and panes with which to dissect and study the text. These tools are useful for conducting new kinds of research, but are distracting for those who desire a representative experience of the original text. It seems to be this authenticity and transparency that are the most valuable aspects of this particular printed edition, and the principal reason that it was produced.

Cædmon's Hymn

Introduction

Cædmon's Hymn is the oldest surviving Old English poem, composed in the 7th century AD. Daniel Paul O'Donnell's edition of the poem was published in 2005, and was released both as a book and as a CD-ROM, sold together as a "multimedia study, edition, and archive" (O'Donnell). As a deliberate exercise in the creation of a multimedia edition, it provides an enlightening example as to reasons for the survival of printed scholarly editions.

Purpose

Originally conceived as a CD-ROM only, O'Donnell decided to publish *Cædmon's Hymn* as a paper book as well, based on the results of an

experiment he conducted. In this experiment, readers retained more information from the lengthy introduction when reading a printed version of the material than a digital one (O'Donnell 17).

Cædmon's Hymn was thus designed deliberately to take advantage of the strengths inherent in each medium. O'Donnell argues that print is better than the screen at presenting "long and complex narratives and arguments... or material intended for ready reference" (O'Donnell). Additionally, he states that the printed edition is a more appropriate medium for scholars who are interested in the hymn but do not need all the variants of a given manuscript, or paleographic details associated with them (O'Donnell). The screen-based version, on the other hand, is more useful "for those who do need to know more about the manuscripts or textual variants, or who need to be able to find specific wordings in order to disagree" (O'Donnell).

Interface Features

Organization

With regard to physical organization, O'Donnell himself argues that the print edition is "easy to boot, portable, has no problems with batteries, and can be read even in strong sunlight" (O'Donnell) (see fig. 9).



Figure 9: Printed edition of Cædmon's Hymn (O'Donnell, Cædmon's: Hymn: A Multimedia Study, Edition and Archive)

The CD-ROM, on the other hand, requires a machine on which to run, takes longer to load, and is not as convenient for those wishing to read in adverse conditions (see fig. 10).



Figure 10: Digital edition of Cædmon's Hymn (O'Donnell, Cædmon's Hymn: A Multimedia Study, Edition and Archive)

As to internal organization of materials, the situation is much the same in the electronic version as it is in the printed one. In this way, the electronic version of *Cædmon's Hymn* is very much like a value-added book. For example, in both versions there is a table of contents, followed by a preface, followed by a series of chapters, and a glossary followed by a works cited list and an index at the end. There is however one noticeable with regard to organization in the digital edition. Whereas items in the printed edition are laid out sequentially, the digital edition is able to implement a hierarchical form of organization: different items within a single category are navigable using "previous" and "next" links, whereas items in different categories can be accessed more quickly by means of "up" and "down" links (see fig. 11).

- Up (Table of Contents)
- Previous (ylda)
- Next (Bd)
- Down (Index)

Figure 11: Hierarchical organization in screen-based version of *Cædmon's Hymn* (O'Donnell, *Cædmon's Hymn: A Multimedia Study, Edition and Archive*)

The digital version is thus able to provide an extra "dimension" to the organization that the printed version cannot offer.

This difference notwithstanding, it might be argued that the implementation of O'Donnell's digital edition is quite similar to that of his printed edition. Peter Robinson denounces this kind of digital execution in his article "Where We Are with Electronic Scholarly Editions, and Where We Want to Be," arguing that up until now digital scholarly editions have simply replicated the contents and forms of printed scholarly editions, even though they have the potential to be much more innovative.

Navigation Aids

Navigation aids in the printed version include a table of contents, a general index, and a manuscript index. There is also a list of illustrations. Within the text there are frequent cross-references to passages in the various versions of the hymn throughout the text and the glossary.

The digital version of *Cædmon's Hymn* contains the same table of contents as the printed version, although it also has an expanded version that provides a more detailed view. The digital version also contains the same

general and manuscript indices that appear in the printed version, although it lacks the list of illustrations.

A navigation menu appears on every page of the digital version, containing links to alternative views of the text in question, as well as related information. Additionally, in the Windows version, the full text has been indexed to allow full text searching of the entire document.

With regard to the cross-references, the electronic version makes

heavy use of hyperlinks (see fig. 12).

firum on foldu, frea allmechtig.

Nu [p]ue sc[iu]lun² herga hefunricaes [p]ueard, metudaes mechti, and his modgedanc³, [p]uerc [p]uldurfadur— suae⁴ he [p]undra gihuaes, eci drichtin, or astalde!
5 He aerist scoop eordu⁵ bearnum hefen⁶ to hrofe, halig sceppend; [ð]a⁷ middu[n]geard⁸, moncinnes [p]eard, eci drichtin, aefter tiade

Figure 12: Every word and footnote is a hyperlink in this passage from the screen-based version of *Cædmon's Hymn* (O'Donnell, *Cædmon's Hymn: A Multimedia Study, Edition and Archive*)

The continuous presence of navigation aids in the digital version in the form of menus, search, and hyperlinks, works to provide a significant advantage in terms of navigational speed and precision over the printed version, although it also provides a constant enticement to click. Anne Mangen argues in regard to hyperlinks that "when we do have options to rekindle our attention easily by outside stimuli, we are... inclined to resort to them, rather than to consciously trying to resist such distractions by attempting to structure consciousness from within (which is more effortful)" (Mangen 410). In effect, by making navigation easier, the navigation aids in the digital version also make navigation more likely, and serve as distractions from the core of the edition, which is the text.

Paging Devices

In terms of paging devices, the section sign is used in both versions to indicate paragraphs (see fig. 13).

68 | § 3.21-§ 3.23 (

§ 3.21 Depending on the specific between nine and fifteen of the poo elsewhere in the Old English poetic co 4b, 5a, 5b (Northumbrian *aelda* (Northumbrian *eordu* and West-Saxo § 3.21 Depending on the specific between nine and fifteen of the poe elsewhere in the Old English poetic 4a, 4b, 5a, 5b (Northumbrian *aelda* (Northumbrian *eordu* and West-Saxo

Figure 13: Section sign used in printed and screen-based versions of *Cædmon's Hymn* (O'Donnell, *Cædmon's Hymn: A Multimedia Study, Edition and Archive*)

This was done in order "to facilitate comparison of the print and screen versions" (O'Donnell, "Different Strokes, Same Folk" 113). Due to the fact that paragraph numbers have been implemented, page numbers from the printed edition are not given in the electronic one.

In terms of headers, slightly different information is given in each case, with the print edition showing the sections appearing on the current page and the page number, and the electronic edition showing the title of the chapter at the top of the window. At the top of the page in the electronic edition there is more detailed paging information in the navigation menu, although this is not visible without scrolling when reading most of the text. The information given at the top of the print page is more limited, but always visible. The permanent presence of paging devices in the printed edition might be seen as providing a certain foundation to the text on the printed page; an indication of the relationship of the text being read to the rest of the text is always present, whereas in the digital version it becomes easy to forget one's current location with respect to the work as a whole.

Record Layout

Regarding record layout, the printed page requires that longer sections be broken into separate pages. The digital version, on the other hand, implements each conceptual section as a single page, which must be scrolled in order to read.

Despite the fact that conceptually related text must be broken up into arbitrarily defined pieces in the printed version, the greater resolution of the printed page means that it is often possible to view an entire record at once (see fig. 14).

207 Critical Editions Northumbrian eordu recension A critical edition of the probable recension archetype Based on Di with collations from Br,1 P1. Nu [p]ue sc[iu]lun² herga hefunricaes [p]ueard, metudaes mechti, and his modgedanc, [p]uerc [p]uldurfadur— suae⁴ he [p]undra gihuaes, eci drichtin, or astalde! He aerist scoop eordu⁵ bearnum hefen⁶ to hrofe, halig sceppend; [5]a⁷ middu[n]geard,⁸ moncinnes [p]eard, eci drichtin, aefter tiade firum on foldu, frea allmechtig. Apparatus (Substantive variants) la [plue] pue Di pue PI Br. la se [julcar] sculun Di Br sculun PI. la hengal horga Br. 1b hefunricaes heimruicaes Br PI. 1b [plueard] pueard Di PI Br. 2a metudaes] metundaes Br PI. 2b modgedanc] modgedanci Di Sa [pluere] puer Di puere PI Br. 3a [pludurfadur] puddurfudur PI Br. 3b he] hae Di. 3b [plundra] pundra Di Br PI. 4b astalde] antide Br. 5a He] her PI. 5a aerist] aerist PI uaerist Di. 5b hearnum Jpeannum Br. 6a hefen] qfen Di PI. 7a [8]a] da PI Br da Di. 7a middun[n]geard] middungeard Di PI middungaerd Br. 7b moncinnes] moneinne Br PI. 7b [pleard] pard Di PI Br. 8a eci] er PI Br. 8a drichtin] druchtuu PI druntun Di. 8b aefter] cefier Di. 8b tade] ciade Br. 9a on] of PI Br. 9b freal fre Br. ¹ None of the scribes responsible for copying this recension appear to have understood their text. See §§ 7.8 and 7.42 for a discussion of the editorial conventions used in establishing the text of this recension. ² x[iu]lun] Wuest 1906 reads xuilun. Smith 1978, Dobbie 1937, O'Donnell 1996b read xuilun. See §§ 7.36, above; O'Donnell 1996b, 159; Cavil 2000, 513. ³ modgedanc; Wuest 1906 and Dobbie 1937 have a medial <>> in this word. Smith 1978 and O'Donnell 1996b, bth read </> <-> See §§ 7.36-7.40, above; O'Donnell 1996b, 159; Cavil 2000, 513. ⁴ xua; Howlett suggests that suae may be intended as an adverb ("thus") rather than a causal conjunction ("as, because"). For a discussion of the evidence, see above, § C.9. The punctuation here assumes suae is a conjunction. is a conjunction assumes state is a conjunction. ³ cordul Dobbie 1937 reads corðu. Wuest 1906, Smith 1978, and O'Donnell 1996b read cordu. See §7,36-7.40, above; O'Donnell 1996b, 159-160; Cavill 2000, 513. ⁶ befml Wuest 1906, Dobbie 1937, and Smith 1978, none of whom had access to Br, omit the initial <hoot the authority of D ian dP1. The letter is added here and in O'Donnell 1996b on the basis of the reading in Br. See §§ 7.41 above. ⁷ [8]a] Wuest 1906, Dobbie 1937, and O'Donnell 1996b read äa; Smith 1978 reads da. See above, ⁶ [3 27, 37, 40, above] U1006, 126, 400, 900, 513. assumes suar

' [3]a] Wuest 1906, Dobbie 1937, and O'Donnell 1996b read δa ; Smith 1978 reads δa . See above, § § 7.36-7.40, above; O'Donnell 1996b, 159-160; Cavill 2000, 513. δa can be construed as either a causal conjunction ("when") or an adverb ("then"). While the reading has considerable effect on our understanding of the poem's structure and theology (see above, § C.9, and esp. Blockley 1998, 20-26), neither reading can be ruled out conclusively. The punctuation in this edition follows that of most modern editions in reating δa san adverb. "middle/ligzerd] cums for expected cums may go back to the original exemplar of this tradition. Although as Cavill notes, "the addition of an extra minim in a sequence such as -un is one of the commoner scribal mistakes" in this tradition (Cavill 2000, 519), this is the only example in the recension in which all surviving manuscripts agree in the error.

Figure 14: An entire record on one page in the printed version of Cædmon's Hymn (O'Donnell, Cædmon's Hymn: A Multimedia Study, Edition and Archive)

The digital version, on the other hand, implements each conceptual section as a web page, which must be scrolled through in order to be read when using a legible font size. Various writers have commented that scrolling on the screen represents a step backward in terms of functionality from the printed page, and in fact an experiment by Erik Wästlund and others has shown that

scrolling reduces reaction time and increases mental workload (Wästlund, Norlander, and Archer).

Another advantage of the printed version includes the fact that notes are shown at the same time as the referring text. The web version implements footnotes as hyperlinks, taking the reader to the bottom of the page and away from the referring text, essentially turning footnotes into endnotes. Robert Hauptman argues that placing notes alongside text makes them easier to read, contending that "scholars who interest themselves in documentation invariably prefer the substantive footnote over all other possibilities" (35).

Textual Features

As to textual features, one of the most noticeable differences between the electronic and printed editions concerns the use of colour; whereas the printed edition is black and white, the digital edition uses seven different colours to indicate additional information in the text, including for hyperlinks, associations with various versions of the poem, and the presence of corrections. This use of colour is very informative, although a drawback is that it makes the text somewhat difficult to read (see fig. 15).

- Di Dijon, Bibliothèque Municipale, 574
- H Oxford, Bodleian Library, Hatton 43
- Hr Hereford, Cathedral Library, P. 5. i
- Ld Oxford, Bodleian Library, Laud Misc. 243
- Ln Oxford, Lincoln College, lat. 31
- M Cambridge, University Library, Kk. 5. 16 ("The Moore Bede")
- Mg Oxford, Magdalen College, lat. 105
- N London, British Library, Additional 43703

Figure 15: Text of different colours in the screen-based version of *Cædmon's Hymn* (O'Donnell, *Cædmon's Hymn: A Multimedia Study, Edition and Archive*)

Another difference concerns the use of symbols. Both the printed and digital editions use them, but the digital edition also uses hover text to remind the reader of their meaning. This means that there is less of a learning curve to be able to use the digital edition as compared to the printed one. This ease of use makes the digital edition considerably more accessible, but also means that users do not require as significant an intellectual effort to use it. This lack of effort may be seen as translating to a lack of intellectual investment in the work and to shallower engagement with it, a phenomenon bemoaned by Nicholas Carr, among others (N. Carr).

Content

As to content, the printed version contains lengthy literary, historical, textual, and linguistic introductions and notes. It also contains critical editions of various versions of the poem, and an archive containing transcriptions of all known witnesses of the poem. All content in the printed edition of *Cædmon's Hymn* is replicated in the digital version. In addition, the digital version contains full-colour facsimile images, a selection of different kinds of transcriptions (such as diplomatic and semi-diplomatic), options for changing the apparatus to show different sorts of variation (including "significant," "substantive" and "orthographic"), and options to combine the content that exists in the edition in different ways, such as to produce parallel text editions. With regard to content, then, the digital version is clearly more comprehensive than the printed one, which is one of the commonly cited advantages of digital editions as compared to printed ones.

Conclusion

O'Donnell's multimedia edition of *Cædmon's Hymn* provides an excellent example of a text that has been purposely implemented in both printed and digital versions in order to take advantage of the relative strengths of each. In terms of our research questions, the answer as to why printed editions are still produced seems in this case to be that the editor believed that print offers a number of advantages over the screen as a medium of display, and he wanted to take advantage of those. Specific advantages of the printed version include that it can be read in a wider variety of situations and environments than the digital edition; there are page numbers, which provide an added mode of reference; entire records can be viewed at once on a single page; pages can be turned, rather than scrolled through; notes can be viewed alongside the text; text is all one colour, allowing easier reading; and a lack of clickability provides less enticement to leave the current page.

Whereas the reason for the continued existence of a printed edition of the *Codex Sinaiticus* might best be understood in terms of Bolter and Grusin's theory of remediation, the difference between the printed and digital versions of *Cædmon's Hymn* might best be understood in terms of Lev Manovich's distinction between narratives and databases.

In his book *The Language of New Media*, Manovich argues that databases are replacing narratives as the "key form of cultural expression" of the modern age (194c). As we saw in Chapter 1, Manovich points out that "multimedia works that have 'cultural content' appear to particularly favor the database form" (195c). As opposed to narratives, which are typically read from beginning to end, databases are characterized by a non-linear presentation that allows all material to be accessed quickly from any point. In the case of text, the result is that rather than engaging in traditional reading, users "view, navigate, and search" (219). The tradeoff represented by this arrangement is that new media objects lend themselves more to nonsequential browsing than to extended reading. O'Donnell's edition of *Cædmon's Hymn* seems to recognize this idea, using the benefits of both print and screen to take advantage of both kinds of consultation.

Conclusion

The printed editions of the *Codex Sinaiticus* and *Cædmon's Hymn* that we have looked at have been produced for different reasons; in the first case,

56

an attempt at an authentic representation of an original manuscript is made, whereas in the second, the aim is to facilitate extended reading. However, it seems clear that in both cases, the editors have chosen to publish in both printed and digital formats in order to take advantage of the strengths inherent in each medium. If the existence of these strengths is acknowledged, then claims to the effect that printed scholarly editions are already obsolete seem somewhat premature.

Chapter 3: Digital Scholarly Editions

Introduction

As discussed in the general introduction, scholarly editions lack a unified definition. This lack is reflected in the wide variety of forms the scholarly edition has taken, and of the functions that it performs. In print, there have been critical editions, type facsimile editions, variorum editions, genetic editions, parallel text editions, and synoptic editions (Greetham); editions that privilege bibliographical, authorial, historical, sociological, or aesthetic approaches to text (Shillingsburg, *Scholarly Editing in the Computer Age*); and editions that may focus on copy-text, best-text, diplomatic, scribal, documentary, or social-text editing (Modern Language Association).

In a sense, the move to the screen has erased this plurality; as Edward Vanhoutte proclaims in "Electronic Textual Editing: Prose Fiction and Modern Manuscripts: Limitations and Possibilities of Text-Encoding for Electronic Editions," "The hypertext edition, the hypermedia edition, the multimedia edition, the computer edition, the digital edition, the electronic edition are all synonymous labels for a concept without a definition" (Vanhoutte). As we shall see in this chapter, however, despite the increasing difficulty in categorizing them, the diversity of functionalities of scholarly editions has remained, if not increased.

Research Justification

Despite Jerome McGann's statement in "The Rationale of Hypertext" that the shift from print to the screen would be "revolutionary," some writers have questioned this characterization. Lina Karlsson and Linda Malm's study of online scholarly editions, published in 2004, concludes that although electronic editions are "viewed as being better than the printed... in practice they were not so revolutionary. Instead they incorporated the features of the printed medium to a large extent" (Karlsson and Malm 28). They argue that *"remediation* is a more accurate term to use" (Karlsson and Malm 2).

As Karlsson and Malm's study has been the only rigorous study of digital scholarly editions, and since it is already nearly half the age of digital scholarly editions themselves, it seems sensible to conduct a new one. Therefore, part of the purpose of the present chapter will be to determine whether in the seven years since the publication of Karlsson and Malm's article the term "revolutionary" has become more appropriate as an adjective to describe electronic scholarly editions. Additionally, unlike Karlsson and Malm's study, this one will explore the particular ways in which specific functionalities are implemented in digital scholarly editions, giving a more qualitative perspective than they chose to provide.

Research Problem

In order to investigate the implementation of scholarly editions on the web, we must begin by defining our research question. The following will be useful: "How have the functionalities afforded by the digital environment been implemented in online scholarly editions?"

Identification of Functionalities

In order to begin, we must first choose and define the functionalities that will serve as our analytical apparatus. In order to limit the scope, functionalities to be considered have been limited to what might best be described as "internal" rather than "external" ones, in that they are features of the work itself rather than ways in which the work may be used. This has been done because external features may be numerous and somewhat idiosyncratic. Based on our own investigation of various websites, as well as a review of relevant literature, the following categories of functionalities seem to stand out as being fundamentally altered by their implementation on the web.

(1) **Navigation**. On paper, searching can be done by means of the table of contents or the index, and browsing can be accomplished simply by flipping pages. Online navigation has been one of the most fundamental areas of development since the advent of the Web. Two approaches stand out: "Browsing, enabled by hypermedia links, was the first technology for accessing information... However.... Searching has now become a major, perhaps the major, means of locating information on the web" (Sears and Jacko 565). As in the Web as a whole, browsing and searching are both extremely important in scholarly editions. Browsing is accomplished primarily by means of hypertext, which has been described by George P. Landow as having "the power to change both our experience and our understanding of text and author. It therefore has the potential to reconfigure the nature of the scholarly edition in ways that might appear radical" (Landow). Lyman argues that searching can go beyond browsing in allowing users to pose questions that have never been thought of by the editors of the edition: "Querying the text and apparatus of the editions that it displays in ways that will go beyond the sets of preconceived questions that they have been 'programmed' to handle calls for a thoroughgoing search capacity, one powerful enough to elicit surprises from the edition's text" (Lyman, "Assistive Potencies: Reconfiguring the Scholarly Edition in an Electronic Setting" 156). Searching is implemented by means of search boxes. However, innovative means of navigation have also been implemented in scholarly editions alongside more standard ones.

(2) **Annotation**. Private annotation is largely limited on paper to writing in the margins, and public annotation is impossible outside of publishing papers (or scholarly editions of one's own) on the material. The historical importance of note taking both to memory and to writing has been remarked on by Ann Blair (Blair 63). On the Web, both public and private annotation is possible, and each has been employed in various ways in scholarly editions. Peter Shillingsburg believes that public annotation is key to the future of the scholarly edition, which will be "constructed modularly and contributed to by 'a village' of scholars" (Shillingsburg, *From Gutenberg to Google* 97).

(3) **Analytical tools**. Tito Orlandi has written that the computer cannot radically transform the humanities simply by means of word processing or "computer alphabetization;" rather, it is only "when the computer is applied in its full capacity of running algorithms, [that] humanities are confronted with a radically new situation" (Orlandi). By performing operations on the text, the computer can be used to do fundamentally new and different research than is feasible with paper editions. Such research includes visualization and textual analytics.

(4) **Customizability**. It has been argued that among the most distinctive features of the Web is its fluidity; as Jay David Bolter notes in *Writing Space: Computers, Hypertext, and the Remediation of Print,* "electronic writing is fluid and dynamic to a greater degree than previous technologies" (Bolter 8). The fluidity of the digital medium allows users the possibility of customizing both the interface and the content; possibilities include the ability to view multiple versions of texts in multiple languages, the ability to alter or reposition elements of the interface, the ability to compare different documents side-by-side, the ability to zoom in and pan across high-resolution images, and the ability to experience multimedia artefacts.

Code Book

For easy reference, a bullet list of functionalities and their categories follows:

- Navigation
 - o Browsing
 - Searching
- Annotation
 - Public annotation
 - Private annotation
- Analytical tools
 - Visualization
 - o Textual analysis
- Customizability
 - o ... of the interface
 - Side-by-side comparison
 - Zoomable images
 - Other
 - \circ ... of the content
 - Multiple versions
 - Multiple languages
 - Multimedia

Each of these functionalities has been marked as either present or absent with regard to each of the digital scholarly editions under consideration. Additional information about how the functionalities are implemented is recorded as well.

Sample

Karlsson and Malm's 2004 study consisted of 31 digital scholarly editions. At the time, the authors believed this sample to constitute "a major part of the electronic editions on the Web with free access" (Karlsson and Malm 6). Four years later, a list of 228 digital scholarly editions was compiled by Patrick Sahle, more than seven times the number studied by Karlsson and Malm (Sahle). In 2011, if the apparent trend has continued, there may be upwards of a thousand scholarly editions online. A complete survey of digital scholarly editions has therefore not been feasible for this study. Instead, purposeful sampling has been employed on fifteen editions of interest. The list of editions chosen can be seen in fig. 39, and include Cædmon's Hymn, the Codex Sinaiticus, the Diary of Samuel Pepys, the Newton Project, Vincent van Gogh: The Letters, and others.

This sample comprises editions that have been noted in the literature as being innovative, as well as several that have not received much attention but that seem different from the others. The sampling method might thus be characterized as maximum variation sampling, and has been conducted in order to obtain a sense of the full range of functionalities and implementations that have been realized to date. Maximum variation sampling can yield two sorts of findings: "(1) high-quality, detailed descriptions of each case, which are useful for documenting uniquenesses,
and (2) important shared patterns that cut across cases and derive their significance from having emerged out of heterogeneity" (Patton 235). Both of these sorts of findings have been sought and found in the current study.

Method

As the aim of the study is to examine not just *what* functionalities have been implemented in digital scholarly editions, but also how they have been implemented, a mixed quantitative/qualitative approach is most appropriate. As in the previous chapter, the method known as "document analysis" will be employed, although in this case a different analytical apparatus will be used, this one designed specifically to compare digital editions with each other from a functional perspective. The examination and interpretation of scholarly editions has been accomplished by means of an application of the analytical apparatus described above (under "Identification of Functionalities") to each of the editions under consideration. This has been done by identifying and testing each of the functionalities in each of the editions. Results are recorded so as to be quantifiable, but freeform descriptions of each digital scholarly edition and the affordances it offers have also been created, to allow for a thorough understanding of each edition.

Results

Navigation: Browsing

As expected, every digital scholarly edition implements some method of browsing. All editions offered as their primary means of browsing either hyperlinks grouped into various categories, or dropdown menus. Categories serving to group the material may be derived from either the structure of the text itself, or from the material of a particular physical edition of a work. In some cases, both ways of categorizing are used, as in *Codex Sinaiticus*, which uses dropdown menus to create navigable categories for book, chapter, and verse, but also ones for quire, folio, and recto (see fig. 16).

choose a page: Luke Chapter 1 Verse 1 Quire: 77 Folio: 5 Fol

Figure 16: Browsing in Codex Sinaiticus (Milne et al.)

In other cases, browsing may be done by subject, as in the *Newton Project*, which divides its textual materials into twenty subject-based categories. *Vincent van Gogh: The Letters* implements hyperlinks within glossaries, concordances, and by various entities that have been encoded within the work and presented as lists, including works of art mentioned in the letters, literature cited by Van Gogh, and people mentioned in the correspondence (see fig. 17). It also provides a horizontal list of previously visited pages as part of the navigation menu, allowing recently browsed entries to be easily revisited with a single click.

	Num	ber in 1	this edition (2009)	
			ber in edition 1990	
			Date	
				Language
001	<u>001</u>	001	Sunday, 29 September 1872	Dutch
002	002	002	Friday, 13 December 1872	Dutch
003	<u>003</u>	003	mid-January 1873	Dutch
004	<u>004</u>	004	Tuesday, 28 January 1873	Dutch
005	<u>005</u>	005	Monday, 17 March 1873	Dutch
006	<u>006</u>	006	Monday, 24 March 1873	Dutch
007	<u>007</u>	007	Monday, 5 May 1873	Dutch
800	<u>008</u>	008	Friday, 9 May 1873	Dutch
009	<u>009</u>	009	Friday, 13 June 1873	Dutch
009a	<u>010</u>	010	Wednesday, 2 July 1873	Dutch
010	<u>011</u>	011	Sunday, 20 July 1873	Dutch
010a	<u>012</u>	012	Thursday, 7 August 1873	Dutch
011	<u>013</u>	013	Saturday, 13 September 1873	Dutch
011a	<u>014</u>	014	between about Thursday, 16 October and Friday, 31 October 1873	Dutch

Figure 17: Concordance in Vincent van Gogh: The Letters (Jansen et al.)

Most editions also make it possible to browse by clicking "Back" and "Next" or similarly labeled buttons that allow leafing through a work in linear order, as in a printed book.

A few editions allow innovative means of browsing. *William Godwin's Diary* is notable in this respect due simply to the sheer number of categories with which it is possible to browse; "Diary," "People," "Events," "Reading," "Writing," "Meals," and "Meetings" have all been identified in the text and have been implemented as browsable categories. Each is subdivided into two to sixteen subcategories, some of which are further subdivided, allowing browsing and comparison of precise concepts that users may not have even considered (see fig. 18).



Figure 18: Browsing in William Godwin's Diary (O'Shaughnessy et al.)

Perseus allows browsing within and between books by means of a series of rectangles at the top of each page of text representing books or sections of books (see fig. 19). This allows users to better understand where they are in a given text, and to navigate anywhere else in the work with a single click.

Figure 19: Browsing by bars in *Perseus Digital Library* (G. R. Crane et al.)

Perseus also uses an open-access service created by the Ancient World Mapping Center and Institute for the Study of the Ancient World called "Pleiades" that produces both a map and a graph of all places mentioned in a particular text. The graph contains links that display information about where in the text the places are mentioned, which link back to mentions of the places themselves within the text, thus creating a method of browsing by means of the data itself (see fig. 20).



Figure 20: Browsing by data map in Perseus Digital Library (Gregory Crane et al.)

Navigation: Searching

Thirteen of the fifteen editions implement some form of search, the only exceptions being the *Online Chopin Variorum Edition* and the *Aberdeen Bestiary*. It may be speculated that the former has omitted search due to the non-textual nature of its subject matter, whereas the latter may have considered it unnecessary due to the relatively small size of the resource.

The implementations that do exist involve various levels of search functionality, ranging from a simple box to a page of options. The simplest form of search on this scale can be found in the *Walt Whitman Archive*, which provides a simple Google Custom Search box without any options. A note mentions that they are exploring options for more sophisticated searching (see fig. 21).

Search the Archive

A note about the *Whitman Archive* search: We are currently exploring several options for enabling more sophisticated searching of *Whitman Archive* materials, including faceted searching/browsing and more powerful leveraging of our deep mark-up. We appreciate your patience as we pursue these options.

Google™ Custom Search (Search)

Figure 21: Search in the Walt Whitman Archive (Folsom et al.)

A more complex search implementation is present in the *Rossetti Archive*, which includes a number of options including case sensitive, Boolean, phrase, genre, name, and date searches, including date ranges. Additionally, searching can be limited to all archive objects, texts, or images (see fig. 22).

1010	home	about the archive	exhibits & objects	search engine	bibliography	nines
Ross	setti A	rchive Search		recent	t searches:	:
			ee form search	i (s. V. Ve	9 - Ale -	help
		case se	nsitive: 🗆 🦲	\$ search		
	111/	1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1		(W		1
stru	uctured	searching			$\sim 5.68R$	
titl	e searc	:h				help
			\$ search			
boo	lean se	arch				help
		and 🛟	case se	ensitive:	¢ sear	ch
phr	ase sea	rch	A STATE OF		and the second	help
	S & M	case se	nsitive:	¢ search		
gen	re sear	ch	A LANGER AND A LAND			help
		case sensitive:	in any genre	search		
nam	ne sear	ch		AN CONTRACTOR	1- 1 Charles	help
		in any role 🗘 s	earch			
dat	e searc	h	R. S. A. S. R. S. H. S. P.	1 14	Section Sec	help
all arc	hive objects	* before * 1911 * (search			
all arc	hive objects	+ from 1280 + to 1	search			
		in all archive objects	5 \$ before \$ 1911 \$	search		
		in all archive objects	• • from 1280 • to	1305 🛟 search		

Figure 22: Search in the *Rossetti Archive* (McGann et al.)

Vincent van Gogh: The Letters also has an advanced form of search, with many options including what parts of the resource to search (be they original text, translation, annotations, or bibliography), what to search for (whether person, literature, work of art, Bible reference, etc.), what particular letters or date ranges to search for, and how to order the results (i.e. by relevance, correspondent, or date) (see fig. 23).

		RECALL PREVIOUS CLEAR SEARCH
		Full text search
?	Original text	\checkmark
?	Translation	\checkmark
?	Annotations	\checkmark
?	Bibliography	\checkmark
?	Full text	
	+	Search for
?	Person	
?	Literature	
?	Work of art	
?	Bible reference	
?	Van Gogh work F no.	JH no.
?	Periodical	
	+	Select letters
2	+ From Vincent van Gogh	Select letters
2 2		
	From Vincent van Gogh	
?	From Vincent van Gogh To Vincent van Gogh	<u>ସ</u>
? ?	From Vincent van Gogh To Vincent van Gogh Sketches only	▼ ▼
? ? ?	From Vincent van Gogh To Vincent van Gogh Sketches only Number (range)	 ✓ ✓ This edition 2009 ▼
1 1 1 1 1	From Vincent van Gogh To Vincent van Gogh Sketches only Number (range) Date between	 ✓ ✓ This edition 2009 ▼ 1872-09-2 and 1890-07-3
2 2 2 2 2 2	From Vincent van Gogh To Vincent van Gogh Sketches only Number (range) Date between Or period	 ✓ ✓ This edition 2009 ▼ 1872-09-2 and 1890-07-3 □ □
2 2 2 2 2 2 2	From Vincent van Gogh To Vincent van Gogh Sketches only Number (range) Date between Or period Correspondent Place	 ✓ ✓ This edition 2009 ▼ 1872-09-2 and 1890-07-3 □ □ □ □ □ □
2 2 2 2 2 2 2	From Vincent van Gogh To Vincent van Gogh Sketches only Number (range) Date between Or period Correspondent Place	 ✓ ✓ This edition 2009 ▼ 1872-09-2 and 1890-07-3 □ <li< th=""></li<>
2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	From Vincent van Gogh To Vincent van Gogh Sketches only Number (range) Date between Or period Correspondent Place	 ✓ ✓ This edition 2009 ▼ 1872-09-2 and 1890-07-3 □ <
2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	From Vincent van Gogh To Vincent van Gogh Sketches only Number (range) Date between Or period Correspondent Place + Relevance	 ✓ ✓ This edition 2009 ▼ 1872-09-2 and 1890-07-3 □ <

Figure 23: Search in Vincent van Gogh: The Letters (Jansen et al.)

Perseus offers perhaps the most impressive form of search, providing a plethora of options: Boolean searches that can be limited to particular sections of the archive, searches in six languages, an English-to-[Language] lookup feature that allows searching for a word in English to find its translation in other languages, a dictionary entry search that allows truncated searching and finds entries for words in five languages, as well as named entity search tools including ones for people, places, and dates

(including date ranges) (see fig. 24).

	Tanta Open addree Rooat Theip				
	General Search Tools			How to enter text in Greek: Ωπek αβγδεζηθικλμυξοπρο/ςτυφχψω sacceda bg de zhqikim noopr stuf xyw	
earch the collections		hide		ά ὰ ᾶ ἀ ἀ ἀ ἅ ἅ ἅ ἅ ἂ ἇ ἄ ῷ ῷ ἔ ῷ use*for a/a\a = a) a(a)/a(/a)/a(\a)=a(-a a)/a)/a)=tepital keter	
earch all text in the Perseus Digital Library using a s hort, LSJ, Buckwalter, etc.)	specific language. This search will also return li	nks to entries in language dictionaries (Lewis &		Hom. II. 1.1 μῆνιν ἄειδε θεὰ Πηληϊάδεω 'Αχιλῆος mh=nin a)/eide qea\ *phihi+a/dew *)axilh=os	
earch in English			Word Study Tool		
ontaining all of the words Search for all possible forms		Limit Search to: Greek and Roman Materials	Get Info for	in Greek 🛟 Co	
ontaining the exact phrase		✓ Arabic Materials ✓ Germanic Materials ✓ 19th-Century American	Vocabulary Tool		
ontaining at least one of the words Search for all possible forms		Renaissance Materials Richmond Times Dispatch	rocubanary roor		
		Humanist and Renaissance Italian Poetry in			
search for all possible forms		Latin			
Search Clear this search					
nglish-to-[Language] lookup		hide			
ind Greek, Latin, Arabic, etc words based on the Eng					
earch for words beginning with	in Greek 🚺 dictionary definitions	(Search)			
ictionary Entry Lookup		hide			
earch for words starting with "am" in Latin to find a	amo, amarus, amplus, etc.)				
earch for words starting with	in English 🔹 (Search)				
rt & Archaeology Search		hide			
earch our collection of artifacts and/or image caption	ons.				
earch term:					
Search artifacts 🗹 Search image captions					
Search					
	Named Entity Search Tools				
earch places		hide			
earch for places: matching	g this name 📢 Browse				
nter the name of a place, like "Springfield" or "Ather nd all places within that state or nation. You may al nited States").	ns", to find all locations matching the name, or lso enter more than one of these to narrow you	enter a state ("Illinois") or country ("Canada") to r search ("Athens, Greece" or "Springfield, Illinois,			
nited States"). ote that abbreviations ("USA", "III.") do <i>not</i> work at p	presentplease stick to full names!				
earch people		hide			
earch for a person:	Browse				
In: 🗌 Forenames 🗌 Surnames 🗹	Full name				
earching for "Washington" in "Forenames" and "Surr earch will find anyone who matches the entire searc	names" will return all people with Washington as	s a first or last name, respectively. A full-name			
- in , in the second second second					
earch dates		hide			
rom: [any]					
Month Day Year To: (any) , A.D. Brows	88				
nter a month, day and/or year to search for referen eferences to the year 1863, while searching for "July	ces to that date. You do not need to fill out eve	ry field: searching only for "1863" will find all			

Figure 24: Search in Perseus Digital Library (G. R. Crane et al.)

Even the results are heavily modifiable, with multiple options to customize

how results are displayed (see fig. 25).

Refine Display	hide
Show documents in Greek \$ Show all	
Select one or more works:	
Achiles Tatius, Leucipe et Clitophon (ed. Rudolf Hercher) Aelian, De Natura Animalium (ed. Rudolf Hercher) Aelian, De Natura Animalium (ed. Rudolf Hercher) Aelian, De Tatua Rustica ede. Rudolf Hercher) Alan, Varia Historia (ed. Rudolf Hercher) Astina Speches Exclusion (ed. Herbert Weir Smyth, Ph.D.) Asschluss, Eumenides (ed. Herbert Weir Smyth, Ph.D.) Asschluss, Eumenides (ed. Herbert Weir Smyth, Ph.D.) Asschluss, Steven Against Thebes (ed. Herbert Weir Smyth, Ph.D.) Asschluss, Steven Against Thebes (ed. Herbert Weir Smyth, Ph.D.) Asschluss, Steven Against Thebes (ed. Herbert Weir Smyth, Ph.D.) Asschluss, Speches Astschluss, Speches (ed. K.J. Maidment) Sort by Min Frequency Min Frequency <td>0</td>	0
O Key Term Score O top percent	
(Show vocabulary)	
Display Preferences	hide
Greek Display: Unicode (precombined)	
Arabic Display: Unicode	
View by Default: Translation	
Browse Bar: Show by default	
Update Preferences	

Figure 25: Refining search results in Perseus Digital Library (G. R. Crane et al.).

Annotation: Private

Only one of the editions allows for full-fledged private annotation: the *Online Chopin Variorum Edition*. The *Codex Sinaiticus* does provide a bookmark feature allowing users to create bookmarks, but even this minimal functionality is in a way external to the edition, simply creating a bookmark within the user's browser. Several of the editions allow users to print out documents or to download XML versions of texts, both of which can be used to create duplicate digital or printed copies upon which private annotations could be made, but this cannot really be viewed as integrated annotation functionality, as it is not very user-friendly, and it requires the user to work on a copy of the material that is not stored within the digital scholarly edition itself.

The Online Chopin Variorum Edition allows notes to be created at the level of individual bars of music using a rich-text editor. Annotations can be kept private or made public. Private annotations can be viewed by browsing to them in the "Notes View." It is noted in the Project Description that "The annotation tools provide users with unprecedented scope to construct their own 'critical commentaries' within what amounts to a uniquely 'dynamic edition'" (Rink et al.).

Annotation: Public

Only two of the fifteen editions allow public annotation: the *Online Chopin Variorum Edition* and the *Diary of Samuel Pepys*.

In the *Online Chopin Variorum Edition*, all users may view user-created public annotations, but only registered users can add new ones. (Registration is free, but requires an email address.) Public annotations can be viewed alongside scholarly commentary by the *Online Chopin Variorum Edition* team by browsing to them using the "Notes" menu.

The *Diary of Samuel Pepys* implements annotations in a manner analogous to comments on blog entries (see fig. 26).

Tuesday 24 November 1668

Up, and at <u>the Office</u> all the morning, and at noon <u>home</u> to dinner, where <u>Mr.</u> <u>Gentleman</u>, the cook, and <u>an old woman</u>, his third or fourth wife, come and dined with us, to enquire about a <u>ticket</u> of his son's, that is dead; and after dinner, I with <u>Mr. Hosier</u> to my closet, to discourse of the business of balancing Storekeeper's accounts, which he hath taken great pains in reducing to a method, to my great satisfaction; and I shall be glad both for <u>the King's</u> sake and his, that the thing may be put in practice, and will do my part to promote it. That done, he gone, I to the Office, where busy till night; and then with comfort to sit with <u>my wife</u>, and get her to read to me, and so to supper, and to bed, with my mind at mighty ease.

Annotations

Robert Gertz on Fri 25 Nov 2011, 01:58am. Flag this The third or fourth wife and the son who's dead...It gets hard to keep track I guess.

* Terry Foreman on Fri 25 Nov 2011, 02:11am. Flag this

"I with Mr. Hosier...to discourse of the business of balancing Storekeeper's accounts, which he hath taken great pains in reducing to a method...that [should] be put in practice, and will do my part to promote it."

L&M note that Francis Hosier, having lately served as an accountant in the office of Navy Treasurer and studied the complexity of balancing storekeepers' accounts — involving many goods and services both at home and abroad — proposed a method of accounting, that Pepys presented to the Brooke House Committee, which was adopted in March 1669. <u>http://www.pepysdiary.com/archive/1669/03/07/</u>

Mark S on Fri 25 Nov 2011, <u>05:37am</u>. Flag this

@Robert Gertz "It gets hard to keep track I guess."

Hard for Pepys to keep track, anyway. Probably Mr Gentleman (who wasn't a gentleman) told them a long story at dinner about his family life... "I was married to so-and-so, and then she died, and then my son went to sea, then I married so-and-so, and then such-and-such happened... etc."

I'm sure it's Sam who lost track of how many wives he had, not the man himself. :-)

Don McCahill on Fri 25 Nov 2011, <u>11:03am</u>. Flag this Remember that at this time many women died in childbirth, resulting in men with several wives. Divorce was unheard of, except for Kings and such.

Figure 26: Public annotations in The Diary of Samuel (Gyford)

It is therefore unsurprising, perhaps, that some of the comments tend to be rather informal. Jokes and conversations between users can be found alongside more traditional scholarly fare. However, the comments are moderated, and a warning appears in the "Annotation guidelines" that annotations should remain on topic and contribute to other's understandings of the material. Users may flag each other's annotations if they feel they are off-topic or require further work. No registration is required in order to post annotations, although a name and email address are required. It is telling, perhaps, that public annotations appear to be used much more frequently in *The Diary of Samuel Pepys* than in the *Online Chopin Variorum Edition*.

Analytical Tools: Visualization

Four of the fifteen editions are outfitted with analytical tools to create visualizations of various kinds. Four others have minimal visualizations: either timelines or highlighted words.

William Godwin's Diary allows words within passages to be highlighted in different colours according to which of the entity-based filters have been selected, making it easy to find particular sorts of information (see fig. 27).

Diary entry for 1 November 1794

✓ Formatting ✓ People □ Places □ Meals ✓ Meetings □ Reading □ Writing □ Topics ✓ Events +/-

Nov. 1. Sa. Hardy's trial : see Wharton , Thomson , Walker , Roberts M., Vaughan , Harwood , Frost , Williams , Banks , Sharp , Ferguson , Symonds , Towers , C. Moore , G. Moore , Hawes , Ritson , Gray , Webb , Belmano , Macdonald Cursory Strictures—To this pamphlet <u>M' H. T.</u> frequently declared that he was indebted for his life. One day, in mixed company, having insisted that the author should tell him without circumlocution whether it were of his writing or no, & been answered in the affirmative, he called the author to him, & taking his hand, conveyed it suddenly to his lips, vowing that he could do no less by the hand which had given existence to that production. (May 21, 1795.) Jan. 29, 1809.

Figure 27: Highlighting in William Godwin's Diary (O'Shaughnessy et al.)

Also, people (along with other entities), appear as hyperlinks within the text; clicking on them reveals a bar graph of occurrences of the entity by year

throughout the diary. Hovering over a bar in the graph shows the number of appearances over the course of a year in the diary. Clicking on a bar brings one to a chronological list of hyperlinks to instances of the person in question in the text (see fig. 28).



Lister, Dr William

Figure 28: Graph in William Godwin's Diary (O'Shaughnessy et al.)

The *Walt Whitman Archive* includes a tool called TokenX that uses the text of the archive as a database from which to perform various visualizations including the creation of tables, word clouds, highlighting of words, keyword in context, replacing words with blocks, and highlighting punctuation and non-words.

Perseus provides a number of visualizations, including graphs of word counts by collection, maps of frequently mentioned places as a whole or by collection, graphs of word counts by language within a collection, maps of frequently mentioned places within a document, diagrams of places in a text and the particular datasets connecting them, and graphical representations of sections of works as clickable rectangles to facilitate browsing (as shown above).



Figure 29: A map of places mentioned in the Diary of Samuel Pepys (Gyford)

The *Diary of Samuel Pepys* has a map of places in the diary implemented as links back to the Encyclopedia. Interestingly, clicking on places in the map creates popup dialogs with links leading back to entries for the places in the Encyclopedia; from there the user can follow links to mentions of the place in the diary itself (see fig. 29). Therefore, the map serves not only as a visualization, but also as a browsing interface.

Analytical Tools: Textual Analysis

Six of the scholarly editions offer either tools that perform various kinds of textual analysis on the data, or the results of textual analysis.

Vincent can Gogh: The Letters offers a number of static lists, including a numerical overview of the letters showing ones *by* and *to* Van Gogh, a concordance comparing various published versions (as shown above), and various other lists including people mentioned in the correspondence,

literature cited by Van Gogh, and more.

William Godwin's Diary offers a table of overall statistics with counts

of all entities that have been tagged in the diary, dates of updates, and other

such information (see fig. 30).

Godwin Project: Overall Stats

- Diary Map Last Updated: 2011-10-08T13:31:42.662+01:00
 - Number of Years: 49
 - Number of Months: 576
 - Number of Days: 17514
 - Number of Pagebreaks: 2597
- Diary Files Last Updated: 2011-10-08T13:31:35.543+01:00
 - Number of Name Instances: 64315
 - Number of Identified Name Instances: 49739
 - Number of Unidentified Name Instances: 14576
 - Number of Identified Person Records: 1214 (Males: 1021 Females: 169)
 - Number of Identified Dramatists Records: 317
 - Number of Meetings: 32366
 - Number of Meals: 10529
 - Number of Placenames: 21402
 - Number of Venues: 16962
 - Number of Entertainments: 3110
 - Number of Events: 6452
 - Number of Topics: 1527
 - Number of Acts of Writing: 11947
 - Number of Acts of Reading: 17598
- Image Files List Last Updated: 2011-10-08T16:31:00.493+01:00 • Number of Image Files: 2695

Figure 30: Overall statistics in William Godwin's Diary (O'Shaughnessy et al.)

Personographies are given for people, including numbers of appearances per

year, biographical details, editorial notes, and bibliographies.

The Internet Shakespeare Editions provides chronologies, statistics on

particular texts including number of stage directions, number of speeches,

average speech length, longest speech, numbers of times characters appear,

etc. (see fig. 31).

Scene	First TLN	Last TLN	Number of stage directions	Number of speeches	Avg speech length (lines)	Longest speech (lines)						
			Cha	aracters appearing	ç							
1.1	1	161	2	12	12.25	64						
1.1	Duke, Egeon, Jailor											
1.2	162	271	6	24	3.29	10						
1.2	1st Merch	hant, Antip	holus of Syracuse, Dron	nio of Ephesus, Dro	omio of Syracuse							
	272	393	3	39	2.00	14						
2.1	Adriana,	Dromio of	Ephesus, Luciana									
2.2	394	615	4	81	1.74	36						
2.2	Adriana,	Antipholu	s of Syracuse, Dromio o	f Syracuse, Luciana								
2.1	616	785	4	61	1.70	21						
3.1	Adriana, Angelo, Antipholus of Ephesus, Balthazar, Dromio of Ephesus, Dromio of Syracuse, Luce											
3.2	786	979	7	62	2.11	28						
3.2	Angelo, A	Antipholus	of Syracuse, Dromio of	Syracuse, Luciana	use, Luciana							
4.1	980	1102	6	41	1.88	8						
4.1	Angelo, A	Antipholus	of Ephesus, Dromio of	Ephesus, Dromio o	f Syracuse, Officer, S	econd Merchant						
4.2	1103	1182	5	33	1.33	8						
4.2	Adriana,	Dromio of	Syracuse, Luciana									
4.3	1183	1279	4	27	2.52	15						
4.5	Antipholu	us of Syrac	cuse, Courtesan, Dromio	of Syracuse								
	1280	1461	10	87	1.00	11						
4.4			s of Ephesus, Antipholus Officer, Pinch	s of Syracuse, Cour	tesan, Dromio of Eph	esus, Dromio of						
	1462	1919	15	142	2.12	40						
5.1			ngelo, Antipholus of Ep f Syracuse, Duke, Egeon									

The Comedy of Errors (Folio 1, 1623)

Figure 31: Section statistics in Internet Shakespeare Editions (Best)

Similarly, *Decameron Web* offers a PDF concordance and lists of people and places with standardized attributes.

A quick look at the preceding examples reveals that with the exception of some minimal user input to select which statistics are displayed in the *Internet Shakespeare Editions*, none of the preceding editions provide tools that allow users to input their own data or to ask their own questions. As argued by Orlandi, it is this feature that really differentiates printed from digital scholarly editions. The only two that do provide this kind of dynamic functionality are *Perseus* and the *Walt Whitman Archive*.

×.	Greek Vocabulary Tool			('Agarremon', 'Hom. 0d. 9.1', 'denarius') All Search Options (view abbreviations)
Home				
Select one or Tandocides? Antiphon, Sa Apollodionus Apollodionus Apollodionus Apollodionus Apollodionus Antazous, The Aristides, Ad Aristides, Ad Aristides, Ad Aristophane Aristophane Aristophane		#s1LD)		
Sart by Alphabu Max Fre Weighte Key Ter Show vocal	Iquency top 50 percent quency top 75 percent Id Frequency all words top 25 percent all words percent	Catput Table XML t		

Figure 32: Vocabulary tool in Perseus Digital Library (G. R. Crane et al.)

Perseus provides not only static lists of word counts by collection, document, or language, but also advanced word study tools requiring user input that reveal grammatical information, word frequency statistics, and various other kinds of linguistic statistics (see fig. 32).

The *Walt Whitman Archive* provides a tool called *TokenX* that allows users to perform various operations on text, including generating concordances, word counts in context, word statistics, and punctuation and non-word statistics, and allows the use of Boolean expressions in doing so (see fig. 33).

The Walt Whitman	Tol	ken)	K: a	tex	t visu	alizat	ion, a	naly	sis, a
Archive	Cus	tomiz	ed fo	r the	Walt N	/hitman	Archive		
	File:	'http://	jetson.	unl.edu	1:8080/cod	coon/token:	xwhitman/	frequer	cy2.xml?
TokenX									
visualization, analysis, and play tool	Wo	ord	Fred	lner	icy Da	ataba	se		
	Ente	er a	ist o	- F wor	ds sen	arated	hv a ve	rtical	har (
gin		u u	130 0			eXecute		rica	bui (i
n									
Choose file									
	Clic	k he	re to	ope	n the fo	ollowing	data ir	n a s	oreads
ualize									
Normal view									
Word cloud view		1	1	1	headir				
Highlight words Keyword in context		-	-			1881-82			
Replace words with blocks	love	57	176	218	231	241	261	87	1271
Highlight punctuation	hate	6	7	7	7	5	5	5	42
and non-words	envy	1	3	3	4	5	6	0	22
	fear	4	16	16	16	15	15	10	92
ze									
oncordance view (one work)									
Concordance view (all works)									
Word counts in context									
Word statistics									
Punctuation and non-word statistics									
ау									
Substitute words									
 Replace words with images 									

Figure 33: Text analysis tools in the Walt Whitman Archive (Folsom et al.)

In both *Perseus* and the *Walt Whitman Archive*, user input takes the form of word selection, choices as to filters, and sorting options. In the case of *Perseus*, options are somewhat more robust, and users can even choose what form the data that is output will take, be it table-based or XML. However, the *Walt Whitman Archive* also allows some tools for play, allowing users to substitute words for other words, as well as to replace words with images.

Customizability: of the Interface

Only two of the fifteen scholarly editions offers no means at all by which to customize the interface: the *Diary of Samuel Pepys* and *Cædmon's*

Hymn. However, it may be remarked that even in these cases, the simple fact of their being implemented as modern web pages using HTML means that the font can be resized, the interface can be resized and repositioned on the screen, multiple windows can be opened allowing side-by-side comparison of different pages of the resource, colours can be altered or omitted, pages can be zoomed in on or out from, pages can be viewed without CSS or as basic HTML, etc. Therefore, it might convincingly be argued that *all* Web-based interfaces are customizable, no matter how simple they are. However, there are some methods of customization that provide added benefits if offered.

For example, the ability to compare multiple versions of a text is an important feature for many textual scholars. As Lyman writes, "Comparisons across multiple cases, strengthened by the methodological consistency with each has been recorded, have a way of surfacing patterns that bear further investigation - and speculation as to why they have occurred" (Lyman, "Assistive Potencies: Reconfiguring the Scholarly Edition in an Electronic Setting" 67). Nine of the fifteen editions under consideration allow side-byside comparison of texts, using various methods. The *Codex Sinaiticus* allows facsimile images, transcriptions, and translations to be viewed side-by-side in a single window; additionally, the text in the image and that in the transcription are interlinked, so that selecting a word in the transcription highlights it in the image as well (see fig. 34).

HOME ABOUT CODEX SINAITICUS	S ABOUT THE PROJECT SEE THE MAN	USCRIPT	GO TO: (BOOK)
choose a passage: John 💌 Chapter 1 💌 Verse 1 John, 1:1 - 1:38 <i>library</i> : BL folio: 247 scribe: A	choose a page: Quire: 80 ¥ Folio: 1 ¥ r ¥ 🖸	display options: ✓ Image ✓ Transcription	Translation Physical Description
Image	Standard Light Raking Light i	Transcription vi	ew by verse view by page i
ΑλΥΤΟΟΥΚΧ ΑλΑΥΤΟΥΚΑ ΑλΑΥΤΟΥΕΙΑ ΑΛΑΥΤΟΥΕΙΑ ΑΛΑΚΕΝ ΑΛΑΚΕΝ ΑΛΑΚΕΝ ΑΛΑΚΕΝ ΑΛΑΚΕΝ ΑΛΑΚΕΝ ΑΛΑΚΕΝ ΑΛΑΚΕΝ ΑΛΑΚΕΝ ΑΛΑΚΕΝ ΑΛΑΓΙΑΟΥΓΑ ΑΛΑΓΙΑΟΥΓΑ	N TEKNAO KAI TOICHIC COT EICTOON KII OIOYKEE IIIA OYXEEKC ENI TOCCAPIK ATOCCAPIK AAAEKO HAT E BHCANIK INF CAPSETEI OF MINIKAI OF MINIKAI OF MINIKAI OF MINIKAI OF ATATPO KII OCA ATTOYAO DII MONOTE FE JAPATO	East blowny It is a vr apyn nyr o Aoyoc Y kin a koyoc ny Tigoc tov öv kan Tigoc tov öv kan	him, and without him s in being. light of men. and the darkness

Figure 34: Facsimile and transcription linking in Codex Sinaiticus (Milne et al.)



Figure 35: Interface customization in Vincent van Gogh: The Letters (Jansen et al.)

85

Vincent van Gogh: The Letters has a maximum of four columns, three of which can be customized to display one of six sorts of information. Here we can see the interface being customized to enable comparison of various types of information (see fig. 35).

Other editions, such as the *William Blake Archive*, simply open links to alternate versions in popup windows, using the functionality of the browser to provide the ability to compare versions (see fig. 36). Despite its simplicity, this method actually allows for maximum freedom in positioning different items.



Figure 36: Popup window comparisons in the William Blake Archive (Eaves, Essick, and Viscomi)

Another important feature relating to customization pertains to the presence of high-resolution images that can be zoomed in on and panned to reveal detail. Eleven of the fifteen editions contain images that cannot be viewed in their entirety on a 1680 x 1050 resolution screen without panning

or zooming out. Of the three others, two give images in low enough resolution that zooming and panning is not required, whereas one does not contain images.

Other means of interface customization include the provision of different translations of the interface itself; the *Codex Sinaiticus* is the only one to do this, making its interface available in four languages. Interface elements may be capable of being positioned in different places, such as in *Vincent van Gogh: The Letters*, where there is a maximum of four columns, three of which can be customized to display one of six sorts of information. In some cases, tools can be hidden, allowing the text to be viewed without distraction, as in the *Decameron Web*, in which it is possible to hide text labels that contain metadata, in *William Godwin's Diary*, where the calendar can be turned off, in the *Online Chopin Variorum Edition*, in which labels on musical bars can be removed, or in *Perseus*, where unneeded toolbars can be collapsed.

Customizability: of the Content

Customizability of content comes in three major forms: the provision of multiple versions of a text in one language, the provision of translations of a text, and the provision of multimedia versions of a text or other artefacts related to it.

With regard to multiple versions of a single text, eight editions provide this functionality (excluding ones that offer only transcriptions or translations alongside facsimiles). Interesting examples include the *Newton* *Project*, which provides both diplomatic and normalized versions of texts, the former offering little editorial intervention, and the latter offering a "tidied-up" text in which abbreviations are expanded and mistakes corrected (see fig. 37).



Figure 37: Normalized and diplomatic versions in The Newton Project (Iliffe et al.)

The *Princeton Dante Project* offers summaries of works using popup windows that can be viewed alongside (or in lieu of) texts. *Vincent van Gogh: The Letters* offers versions of its texts with or without the original line breaks (and accompanying numbering).

As to multiple languages, six editions provide texts (as opposed to interfaces) in more than one language. The *Walt Whitman Archive* is

interesting in this regard, providing in addition to the original English texts ones in German, Portuguese, Russian, and Spanish. *Perseus* offers most of its texts in their original languages with various options as to the display of the script, as well as in English translation. It might be noted that as in the case of fonts and colours as mentioned in the "Customizability: of the Interface" section, translations can often be done of works on the fly using tools that come standard in modern browsers. However, such translations are generally unsuitable for scholarly purposes.

With respect to multimedia, all editions offer facsimile images of texts with the exception of the *Princeton Dante Project* and *The Diary of Samuel Pepys*, both of which do offer some other images. Therefore, if images are considered to be a separate medium than text, every edition is a multimedia edition. As to other forms of media, the *Princeton Dante Project* offers audio recitations of works in both English and Italian, *Decameron Web* offers medieval music from the time of Boccaccio, the *Walt Whitman Archive* contains a single audio recording of what is thought to be Whitman reading one of his own poems, and *Internet Shakespeare Editions* offers a number of audio performances of Shakespeare. Video is surprisingly scarce; the *Internet Shakespeare Editions* contains a single one minute and six second video performance of a scene from "King John," and *Decameron Web* contains a link to a YouTube video of a cinematic adaption of the material.

Aggregated Results

The table on the following page (fig. 38) represents a summary of results. As to navigation, methods of browsing have seen universal implementation across all of the scholarly editions under consideration, whereas methods of searching have not. Additionally, even among those editions that do offer search capabilities, some implementations are very simple, and do not provide many options to the user. Therefore, as to Lyman's contention that search represents a more revolutionary method of navigating scholarly editions than does browsing, it might be said that scholarly editions are well on their way to this point, but have not reached it yet.

As to public and private annotation, both are extremely rare. The general lack of facilities for private annotation seems to run counter to Blair's argument for the historical importance of note-taking, and appears to be a step down in functionality from printed editions. As for public annotation, Shillingsburg's idea that the future of digital scholarly editions lies in a collective edition contributed to by a community of scholars still appears to be a long way off in terms of general uptake.

With regard to analytical tools, it appears that about half of the electronic editions studied are using their digital status for algorithmic operations, as per Orlandi, although not all give the user control over this process. With regard to customizability, interface customization fares better than customizability of content; the inclusion of multimedia elements other than images is particularly rare. The fluidity of the medium so lauded by Bolter thus seems well represented in some respects, but absent in others.



Figure 38: Summary of Results for Chapter 3

92

Theoretical Interpretation

Two theories of new media investigated in the first chapter were applied to specific editions in the second. For analyzing the results of the third chapter, McLuhan's ideas may prove useful. A perusal of the aggregated results of the third chapter shows that public annotation is extremely scarce, with only two editions out of fifteen offering it. Marhsall McLuhan's global village (and Shillingsburg's village of scholars) thus does not seem to have been widely implemented yet, although the mere fact that most of these editions are freely accessible over the Internet can be interpreted to mean that the products of scholarship, if not the ability to take part in its creation, are becoming much more of a global commodity.

McLuhan's idea that new media would allow creators to "play back the materials of the natural world" (McLuhan 59) seems to have seen much wider implementation, at least insofar as images are concerned. As to other multimedia, the number is much lower, although it should be remembered that in some cases there may be no relevant multimedia materials to include.

As to McLuhan's idea that new media grants the freedom to create nonlineal logics (85), all of the editions that we have examined allow methods of rapid browsing that give users the opporunity to explore works by creating their own pathways through them. The vast majority of editions (86.86%) also offer search capabilities, allowing users to make direct discoveries in a decidedly nonlinear way.

93

Finally, McLuhan's contention that more holistic apprehensions of objects and ideas will replace mechanical modes of thinking (86) seems readily apparent in those editions that have provided tools for text analysis and visualization, approximately 40% and 53% respectively.

Conclusion

In the years since Karlsson and Malm conducted their study, scholarly editions have become much more plentiful. Karlsson and Malm's contention that digital scholarly editions merely remediate printed ones can be seen to be a truism if Bolter and Grusin's theory is examined comprehensively; as we learned in the first chapter, they clearly state that "all mediation is remediation" (255). As to the question of whether or not digital scholarly editions are *revolutionary*, it seems clear that although all of the functionalities available in the digital medium are not implemented in every scholarly edition, or even in any one, it is nevertheless the case that the functionalities offered by even the simplest amongst them are vastly different from those of printed scholarly editions. If one is willing to call any change of medium "revolutionary," then surely this one is deserving of the title. The fact remains, however, that the full impact of this revolution will not be felt until the designers of digital scholarly editions begin to use the tools at their disposal to their full capacity.

Conclusion

In this thesis, we have examined scholarly editions from three independent but complementary perspectives. In these concluding remarks, an attempt to reflect on these perspectives will be made, and to use them to answer our research questions.

Two of the theories of new media investigated in the first chapter were applied to specific editions in the second. It was found that two reasons for the continued existence of printed scholarly editions are that they can enable transparent immediacy, one of Bolter and Grusin's two types of remediation, as well as the database, one of Manovich's two main forms of cultural expression. In the third chapter, it was found that a number of McLuhan's observations and predictions regarding new media have been realized in digital scholarly editions, some more fully than others.

So, how does this help us to answer our research questions? Our studies have certainly not been exhaustive; it seems likely that were we to examine more hybrid editions in the second chapter, more advantages of printed editions could be found; and there are certainly more features of digital editions that could be isolated and analyzed in the third chapter. Likewise, there are more theories of new media than those examined in the first chapter, and applying them to scholarly editions could well prove illuminating. However, it seems apparent from our limited investigations that printed scholarly editions hold a number of advantages over digital ones, and so the widely held idea that printed editions are obsolete appears to be overstated. On the other hand, the screen does provide a number of exciting opportunities for new types of editions never before imagined, and provides novel possibilities both for new kinds of scholarly activity as well as for the enhancement of our abilities to engage in old kinds of scholarship.

So, are digital scholarly editions "superior" to printed ones? If the question is this broad, then the answer must be a resounding "no." Are digital editions superior to printed ones for certain purposes? This question may be answered in the affirmative, but the same may be said for printed editions.

A better question, then, is whether the advantages of digital scholarly editions are so great that they eclipse whatever more modest benefits can be derived from printed ones. Will the relationship between printed and digital editions be analogous to that between radio and television, with the latter superseding the former as the principal form of broadcasting but never entirely replacing it, or will it be more similar to that between the telegraph and the telephone, with the former all but disappearing, interesting only among hobbyists or as a museum piece?

Robert Coover mused about the end of books in general in 1992, wondering if the "proliferation of books and other print-based media, so prevalent in this forest-harvesting, paper-wasting age, is... a sign of its feverish moribundity, the last futile gasp of a once vital form before it finally passes away forever, dead as God" (Coover). For Coover, the impetus propelling us toward use of the new medium was the promise of hypertext as a revolutionary new mode of writing that would displace the old: "criticism, like fiction, is moving off the page and on line, and it is itself susceptible to continuous changes of mind and text. Fluidity, contingency, indeterminacy, plurality, discontinuity are... fast becoming principles, in the same way that relativity not so long ago displaced the falling apple" (Coover). Coover's principles seem especially applicable in the case of scholarly editions, which can be seen as being closer to fluid and indeterminate collections rather than linear and clearly defined totalities.

Catherine C. Marshall is more circumspect than Coover, noting that there have been waves of thinkers commenting on the future of books, "each wave... heralded by hyperbolic claims about the disappearance of the print book, the death of text, and other ways in which literacy would be forever changed" (Marshall 1). She notes that such predictions have failed to materialize not because reading from screens has not become popular, but rather because no single way of reading has "won out" over all the others. Instead, new forms of reading are simply added to the old, leading Marshall to declare that it is now the case that "reading is a hybrid" of various activities and media (Marshall 167).

Reg Carr, Director of University Library Services and Bodley's Librarian at Oxford, also predicts a hybrid future for books in his influential "Towards the hybrid library: the national perspective in the UK," in which he popularizes the term "hybrid library." He offers a functional definition of libraries as "services which provide organised access to the intellectual

97

record, wherever it resides" (R. Carr), and then claims that since this record is located in both physical and digital spaces, "the 'hybrid' library of the future will be a managed combination of physical and virtual collections and information resources" (R. Carr).

Scholars without a vested interest in either printed or digital media are likely to approve of the idea of a hybrid environment in the context of digital editions, as it provides a wider range of personal freedom in the pursuit of one's research. Ideally, we would be able to access scholarly editions in both media, as one may be more useful than another depending on the particular usage scenario. Why not have multiple versions of an edition rather than just one, even if some of them are not as useful as others in most situations?

Some editors of scholarly editions have in fact gone this route, attempting to appeal to a diversity of potential users by producing editions in a wide variety of formats. For example, the *Autobiography of Mark Twain*, *Volume 1* has not only been published as a Web-based edition (see fig. 39) and as a hardcover printed book (see fig. 40), but also as an audiobook (in a variety of formats, including MP3 (see fig. 41), MP3 CD, audio CD, Audible, preloaded digital audio player, and audiocassette), an eBook (in secure PDF (see fig.42), ePub, and Kindle formats), and as a microfilm document.



Figure 39: Web-based version of The Autobiography of Mark Twain, Volume 1 (Anh Q. et al.)



Figure 40: Printed edition of Autobiography of Mark Twain, Volume 1 (http-mart)



Figure 41: MP3 adiobook of Autobiography of Mark Twain, Volume 1 (Gardner)



Figure 42: Secure PDF version of *Autobiography of Mark Twain, Volume 1* (Twain et al.)
These versions all possess a variety of different features, but each has been produced because it fills the needs of a specific target audience better than the others.

The ability to produce such a multiplicity of editions is certainly to be admired, although it must be mentioned that this project has had the benefit of tremendous financial resources. Financial contributions to the project have been made by the National Endowment for the Humanities as well as a lengthy list of other donors. Not every editor is so lucky, and must pick and choose among the publishing options available. Among the most important factors contributing to the decision-making process will be financial considerations. It is expensive and time-consuming to produce an edition, and it is even more so to produce multiple versions of an edition. Just as it may be desirable but impractical to produce translations of an edition in different languages, so is it unrealistic to expect the majority of editors to be able to produce versions of a particular edition in a plethora of formats. Although there may be a market for printed editions, audiobook editions, braille editions, Android or iPad editions, or others, it is simply not economically feasible for all publishers to produce them all.

Instead, it seems likely that for the immediate future the balance will continue to shift in the direction of the digital, and specifically Web-based editions. Derek Law makes this argument in relation to libraries in his "Beyond the Hybrid Library: Libraries in a Web 2.0 World," contending that Reg Carr's notion of the hybrid library is already dated. Law calls into the question "the comfort blanket of the library as place" (Law 108) and argues that the future, or at least the one "where any salvation must lie" (Law 115), will be digital. "The question," according to Law, "is not so much what follows the hybrid library as whether, standing on the edge of the abyss, we have the self-confidence to make a great leap forward into (web) space" (Law 116).

Implications of a shift to the screen on the future of reading is a matter of some debate. Although this debate may seem new, when viewed in the context of previous shifts, it can be seen that this debate has a very long history indeed. Perhaps most famously in this context, Plato (1925) has Socrates recount a story in which the god Thamus argues to the inventor of writing Theuth that the written word begets memory loss in readers:

...this invention will produce forgetfulness in the minds of those who learn to use it, because they will not practice their memory. Their trust in writing, produced by external characters which are no part of themselves, will discourage the use of their own memory within them. (275a)

Similarly, in the fifteenth century Hieronimo Squarciafico complained that the invention of the printing press made books too easily available, leading to laziness, reduced memory, and diminished cognitive capacity (Ong 79).

More recently, Nicholas Carr (who also refers to the preceding two examples to bolster his argument) has argued that reading the screen is a

102

shallower and less intensive experience than reading from print. In his article "Is Google Making Us Stupid," he contends that

The kind of deep reading that a sequence of printed pages promotes is valuable not just for the knowledge we acquire from the author's words but for the intellectual vibrations those words set off within our own minds. In the quiet spaces opened up by the sustained, undistracted reading of a book, or by any other act of contemplation, for that matter, we make our own associations, draw our own inferences and analogies, foster our own ideas. Deep reading... is indistinguishable from deep thinking. (Carr)

Screen-based reading, the other hand, is "a style that puts "efficiency" and "immediacy" above all else, [and which] may be weakening our capacity for the kind of deep reading that emerged when an earlier technology, the printing press, made long and complex works of prose commonplace" (Carr).

Carr's argument here is reminiscent of O'Donnell's finding that people tend to remember material they read in print better than material they read from the screen. However, it goes further in that the problem being pointed out is not simply that one's ability to remember details is weakened, but rather that one's ability to meaningfully engage with the content even at the time of reading is undermined as well.

Whether or not one agrees with Carr's assessment with respect to text in general, there also remains the question of the applicability of this argument to the particular case of scholarly editions. In many cases, scholarly editions can be considered reference works, and are unlikely to be read front to back even if they are being consulted in print. Rather, users will tend to focus on sections that interest them, to follow references to other sections, to skip forward and backward to glossaries, notes, and other information, and to generally read in a non-linear fashion. This may not always be the case, and in most scholarly editions there will certainly be long sections of prose that require sustained reading, but the fact remains that scholarly editions lend themselves, by virtue of their non-linear presentation, to the kind of reading that is facilitated by a screen-based exhibition.

Another factor that makes scholarly editions different from other works is the fact that they are works of scholarship that can benefit from the input of readers. Although many kinds of text are products of personal expression and essentially consist of one-way communication from a writer to a reader, scholarly editions are often much improved by allowing contributions by readers. Greg Crane is emphatic in making this point when he writes that "We need to shift from lone editorials and monumental editions to editors as ... editors, who coordinate contributions from many sources and oversee living editions" (Greg Crane).

Crane's appeal to produce "living editions" is interesting not only for its positive suggestions regarding a way forward for scholarly editing, but also for its unstated implication that printed editions are somehow "dead." This implication does not seem to square with Carr's argument that printed material allows for a deeper and livelier personal engagement with text than does digital material. However, a parallel can certainly be drawn between Crane's idea of living editions and Plato's notion of the spoken word as "the word which is written with intelligence in the mind of the learner, which is able to defend itself and knows to whom it should speak, and before whom to be silent.... the living and breathing word of him who knows, of which the written word may justly be called the image" (Plato 276a). Perhaps Crane's exhortation to produce living digital editions can be seen as an echo of Plato's encouragement to use speech rather than writing for matters of importance. Despite the obvious differences between oral and digital communication, the rationale of both Crane and Plato for juxtaposing them both with the "dead" written word is their capacity for interactivity. This capacity is what Shillingsburg refers to when he speaks about a "yillage of scholars," and what McLuhan means when he talks about about a "global village."

So, are these factors enough to tip the balance in favour of the digital, and to put an end to printed scholarly editions? Perhaps, or perhaps not. Even if it were agreed that the advantages of digital editions outweigh those of printed ones to such an extent that it no longer makes sense to produce the latter, there remain a number of obstacles to a full shift. Chief among these is the fact that printed editions have a long history, and are institutionally entrenched. Careers have been built on the production and consumption of printed editions, and even if the will to change to a new model were there, the scholarly practices that have been accumulated throughout lifetimes of operating in the printed environment cannot easily be replaced.

Even if scholarly editions are a more natural fit for the digital environment than other printed works, this does not negate the fact that thus far, they have been produced exclusively in print, and switching to a new environment will be difficult, even if it is more appropriate to the task at hand. It is not only the format that needs to be changed, it is the entire scholarly infrastructure. There have been other examples of this phenomenon. It did not matter to the average person if DAT was technologically superior to audiocassette tapes, or if Betamax was superior to VHS; in both cases, the latter had better infrastructural support than the former, such that their adoption was not warranted for most people (Schofield). It took a much bigger technological leap, to CDs and DVDs, to persuade the majority of people to adopt new formats. As a caveat, however, two differences between these formats and that of print should also be remembered; first, that these formats became culturally entrenched despite having had extremely short lifespans when compared with the medium of print; and second, that they were principally used for non-scholarly purposes, and changing from them did not impact scholarly or professional practices nearly as much as a change from printed to digital editions would do for humanities scholars.

As an example of a scholarly practice that would have to be changed, we can return to our discussion of collaboration. In this respect, humanities scholars have tended to be particularly hesitant to change their ways; the ideal of the lone scholar is a difficult one to shake. From an aversion to

106

writing papers (or even accepting them for presentation at conferences) with coauthors to a reticence to accept interdisciplinarity, humanities scholars have traditionally shunned collaborative activity. As Christine Borgman writes,

While the digital humanities are increasingly collaborative, elsewhere in the humanities the image of the "lone scholar" spending months or years alone in dusty archives, followed years later by the completion of a dissertation or monograph, still obtains. Students often are discouraged from conducting dissertation research under a faculty grant. Instead, they are expected to spend yet more time identifying funding for solo research. When one is groomed to work alone and does so for the years required to complete the doctorate, collaborative practices do not come easily. (Borgman 14)

The idea, then, of scholarly editions being transformed from authoritative and stable reference works with a single editor accountable for its content to dynamic and ever-changing "villages of scholars," is likely to be anathema to most humanists.

Despite these considerable obstacles, there is reason to believe that humanists *will* eventually embrace digital means of dissemination and consumption of scholarly editions. As mentioned in Chapter 3, digital scholarly editions have seen exponential growth since their inception, and this trend appears to be continuing. Some editions are being released only on the Web, including a number of those mentioned in Chapter 3 (such as the

107

Online Chopin Variorum Edition, the Diary of Samuel Pepys, and others). This should not be overly surprising given the large advantages over print that the digital medium holds in certain areas, as we have seen in previous chapters. Just as shifts in media have occurred in other fields, there is no reason to believe that scholarly editing is immune to this phenomenon. And in fact, scholarly editions have already experienced some changes in media; they are no longer being produced as manuscripts, for example, even though that medium may hold certain advantages over print, such as in flexibility of page layout across and throughout editions, the ability to incorporate idiosyncratic elements and designs, and the ability to make changes and annotations after publication over time. The introduction of modern photographic facsimile editions constitutes a more recent example of a predigital shift in medium.

So, will printed editions disappear? At present only educated guesses can be made. However, it seems clear that if printed scholarly editions *are* destined to fade away in the face of superior technology, it has not happened yet, and they still hold a central place in the humanities scholar's toolkit.

Works Cited

Anh Q., Bui et al. "Mark Twain Project." 2012. Web. 27 Apr. 2012.

- Best, Michael. "Internet Shakespeare Editions." *Internet Shakespeare Editions*. 2011. Web. 4 May 2011.
- Blair, Ann. *Too Much to Know: Managing Scholarly Information Before the Modern Age*. New Haven: Yale University Press, 2010. Print.
- Bolter, J. David. Writing Space: Computers, Hypertext, and the Remediation of Print. Routledge, 2001. Print.
- Bolter, Jay David, and Richard Grusin. *Remediation: Understanding New Media*. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 1999.
- Borgman, Christine L. "The Digital Future Is Now: A Call to Action for the Humanities." *Digital Humanities Quarterly* 3.4 (2009): n. pag. Web. 5 Aug. 2012.
- British Library. *Codex Sinaiticus*. Facsimile. Peabody Mass.: Hendrickson Publishers Marketing; British Library, 2010. Print.
- Bush, Vannevar. "As We May Think." *Atlantic Monthly* 176.1 (1945): 101–108. Print.
- Carr, N. "Is Google Making Us Stupid?" *The Atlantic* 302.1 (2008): 56–63. Print.
- Carr, Reg. "Towards the Hybrid Library: The National Perspective in the UK." King's College, London, 2001. Web. 3 Oct. 2010.

- Coover, Robert. "The End of Books." *The New York Times* 21 June 1992. Web. 20 Nov. 2010.
- Crane, Greg. "Give Us Editors! Re-inventing the Edition and Re-thinking the Humanities." *Online Humanities Scholarship: The Shape of Things to Come*. Charlottesville, VA, 2010.
- Crane, Gregory et al. "Locations in The Peloponnesian War." *Perseus Digital Library*. Web. 7 Dec. 2011.

Crane, Gregory R. et al. "Perseus Digital Library." 2012. Web. 26 Nov. 2010.

- Darnton, Robert. *The Case for Books: Past, Present, and Future*. New York: PublicAffairs, 2009. Print.
- Eaves, Morris, Robert N. Essick, and Joseph Viscomi. "The William Blake Archive." *The William Blake Archive*. 2011. Web. 9 Sept. 2011.
- Folsom, Ed et al. "The Walt Whitman Archive." *The Walt Whitman Archive*. Web. 7 Dec. 2011.
- Foster, Paul. "The Oldest Surviving Manuscript of the Bible." *The Expository Times* 122.11 (2011): 543–545. Web. 27 Feb. 2012.
- Gabler, Hans Walter. "Theorizing the Digital Scholarly Edition." *Literature Compass* 7.2 (2010): 43–56. Web. 20 Apr. 2012.
- Gardner, Grover. *Autobiography of Mark Twain, Volume 1*. Ashland: Blackstone Audio, Inc, 2010. MP3.
- Greetham, D. C. David C. *Textual Scholarship: An Introduction*. New York: Garland, 1992. Print.

- Gyford, Phil. "Tuesday 24 November 1668 (Pepys' Diary)." *The Diary of Samuel Pepys: Daily entries from the 17th century London diary*. Web. 7 Dec. 2011.
- Hauptman, Robert. Documentation: A History and Critique of Attribution,
 Commentary, Glosses, Marginalia, Notes, Bibliographies, Works-Cited
 Lists, and Citation Indexing and Analysis. Jefferson, North Carolina:
 McFarland, 2008. Print.
- Henschke, Ekkehard. "Digitising the Hand-written Bible: The Codex
 Sinaiticus, Its History and Modern Presentation." *Libri* 57.1 (2007):
 45–51. Print.

Hjørland, Birger. "Scholarly Edition." 5 Oct. 2006. Web. 20 Oct. 2011.

- Hockey, Susan M. Electronic Texts in the Humanities: Principles and Practice. Oxford University Press, 2000. Print.
- http-mart. *Customer Image for Autobiography of Mark Twain, Vol. 1.* 2010. Amazon.com. Web. 5 Aug. 2012.
- Iliffe, Rob et al. "The Newton Project." *The Newton Project*. 2011. Web. 30 Sept. 2011.

"INKE: Implementing New Knowledge Environments." Web. 16 June 2012.

Jansen, Leo et al. "Vincent Van Gogh The Letters." Vincent van Gogh The

Letters. Dec. 2010. Web. 30 Sept. 2011.

Karlsson, Lina, and Linda Malm. "Revolution or Remediation? A Study of Electronic Scholarly Editions on the Web." *Human IT* 7.1 (2004): 1–46. Print. Landow, George P. "Hypertext, Scholarly Annotation, and the Electronic Edition." 1996. Web. 25 Nov. 2011.

Lavagnino, John. "Why Edit Electronically?" 6 Apr. 1995. Web. 13 Nov. 2011.

- Law, Derek. "Beyond the Hybrid Library: Libraries in a Web 2.0 World."
 - *Digital Convergence Libraries of the Future*. Ed. Rae Earnshaw & John Vince. London: Springer-Verlag, 2008. 107–118. Print.
- Licklider, J. C. R. *Libraries of the Future*. Cambridge, Mass.: MIT Press, 1965. Print.
- Lyman, Eugene William. "Assistive Potencies: Reconfiguring the Scholarly Edition in an Electronic Setting." Sept. 2010.
- Marshall, Catherine C. *Reading and Writing the Electronic Book*. 1st ed. Morgan & Claypool Publishers, 2009. Print.
- McGann, Jerome et al. "Rossetti Archive." *Rossetti Archive*. Web. 7 Dec. 2011.
- McGann, Jerome. "The Rationale of Hyper Text." Text 9 (1996): 11–32. Print.
- McKendrick, Scot, and Juan Garcés. "The Codex Sinaiticus Project." *Care and Conservation of Manuscripts 10 : Proceedings of the Tenth International Seminar*. University of Copenhagen: Museum Tusculanum Press, 2006. 148–152. Print.
- Milne, Ronald et al. "Codex Sinaiticus." *Codex Sinaiticus*. 2009. Web. 9 Sept. 2011.
- Modern Language Association. "Guidelines for Editors of Scholarly Editions." *Modern Language Association*. 29 June 2011. Web. 9 Sept. 2011.

- O'Donnell, Daniel Paul. "Resisting the Tyranny of the Screen, or, Must a Digital Edition Be Electronic." *The Heroic Age: A Journal of Early Medieval Northwestern Europe* 11 (2008): n. pag.
- O'Donnell, Daniel Paul. *Cædmon's Hymn: A Multimedia Study, Edition and Archive*. Ver. 1.0. Cambridge: D.S. Brewer in association with SEENET and the Medieval Academy, 2005. Print.
- O'Donnell, Daniel Paul. "Different Strokes, Same Folk: Designing the Multi-Form Digital Edition." *Literature Compass* 7.2 (2010): 110–119. Web. 4 Mar. 2012.
- O'Shaughnessy, David et al. "William Godwin's Diary Reconstructing a Social and Political Culture 1788-1836." *William Godwin's Diary*. Web. 7 Dec. 2011.

Ong, Walter J. Orality and Literacy. 2nd ed. Routledge, 2002. Print.

- Orlandi, Tito. "Tito Orlandi: Is Humanities Computing a Discipline?" *Tito Orlandi: Is Humanities Computing a Discipline?* 17 May 2002. Web. 11 Apr. 2011.
- Patton, Michael Quinn. *Qualitative Research & Evaluation Methods*. 3rd ed. Thousand Oaks: Sage, 2001. Web. 15 Nov. 2011.
- Plato. "Phaedrus." *Plato in Twelve Volumes*. Trans. Harold N. Fowler. Vol. 9. 12 vols. Cambridge, MA: Harvard, 1925. Web. 11 Apr. 2011.
- Price, Kenneth M. "Electronic Scholarly Editions." *A Companion to Digital Literary Studies*. Oxford: Blackwell, 2008. Web. 30 Sept. 2011.

Rink, John et al. "Online Chopin Variorum Edition: Project Description." Online Chopin Variorum Edition. 2010. Web. 14 Sept. 2011.

Robinson, Peter. "How We Have Been Publishing the Wrong Way, and How We Might Publish a Better Way." *Electronic Publishing: Politics and Pragmatics*. Ed. Gabriel Egan. Tempe, Arizona: Iter Inc. in collaboration with ACMRS (Arizona Center for Medieval and Renaissance Studies), 2010. Print.

- Sahle, Patrick. "Scholarly Digital Editions. An Annotated List, Compiled by Patrick Sahle." 2008. Web. 9 Sept. 2011.
- Schofield, Jack. "Why VHS Was Better Than Betamax." *The Guardian* 25 Jan. 2003. Web. 7 Aug. 2012.

Sears, Andrew, and Julie A. Jacko. *The Human-Computer Interaction Handbook: Fundamentals, Evolving Technologies and Emerging Applications, Second Edition*. 2nd ed. New York: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, 2008. Print.

- Shillingsburg, Peter L. From Gutenberg to Google: Electronic Representations of Literary Texts. Cambridge University Press, 2006. Print.
- Shillingsburg, Peter L. *Scholarly Editing in the Computer Age: Theory and Practice*. University of Georgia Press, 1986. Print.

Shillingsburg, Peter L. "The Impact of Computers on the Art of Scholarly Editing." *Electronic Publishing: Politics and Pragmatics*. Ed. Gabriel Egan. Toronto: Iter Inc. in collaboration with ACMRS (Arizona Center for Medieval and Renaissance Studies), 2010. 17–29. Print. Twain, Mark et al. *Autobiography of Mark Twain, Volume 1*. Berkeley: University of California Press, 2010. Web. 6 Aug. 2012.

- Vandendorpe, Christian. *From Papyrus to Hypertext: Toward the Universal Digital Library*. Trans. Phyllis Aronoff & Howard Scott. Urbana: University of Illinois Press, 2009. Print.
- Vanhoutte, Edward. "Electronic Textual Editing: Prose Fiction and Modern Manuscripts: Limitations and Possibilities of Text-Encoding for Electronic Editions." *Text Encoding Initiative*. 2007. Web. 17 Nov. 2011.
- Wästlund, Erik, Torsten Norlander, and Trevor Archer. "The Effect of Page Layout on Mental Workload: A Dual-task Experiment." *Computers in Human Behavior* 24 (2008): 1229–1245.
- Zachary, G. Pascal. *Endless Frontier: Vannevar Bush, Engineer of the American Century*. New York: Free Press, 1997. Print.